

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

The Underreporting of Educator Sexual Misconduct in K-12 **Schools**

Nina Cordella Kornegay Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Psychology Commons

Walden University

College of Psychology and Community Services

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Nina C. Kornegay

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. David Rentler, Committee Chairperson, Psychology Faculty Dr. Jerrod Brown, Committee Member, Psychology Faculty Dr. Jessica Millimen, University Reviewer, Psychology Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

Abstract

Underreporting of Educator Sexual Misconduct in K-12 Schools

by

Nina C. Kornegay

MA, The Chicago School of Professional Psychology, 2011 BS, North Carolina Central University, 2002

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Forensic Psychology

Walden University

December 2022

Abstract

Educator sexual misconduct continues to present a problem in U.S. K–12 schools. As mandatory reporters, K-12 educators must report any suspicion of educator sexual misconduct, but despite state and federal laws regarding reporting, educator sexual misconduct often goes unreported. The purpose of this exploratory phenomenological study was to learn more about how U.S. K-12 educators perceive underreporting of educator sexual misconduct. The integrated change model served as this study's conceptual framework. Semistructured interviews were conducted to collect data from eight educators in K-12 schools in two school districts in North Carolina. Coding analysis was used to identify themes. Five themes related to reporting barriers to educator sexual misconduct emerged: problematic training, inconsistent training across schools, lack of rapport with supervisors, fear of repercussions for reporting, and lack of accountability and consequences for not reporting. Three themes related to overcoming those barriers to reporting emerged: Title 9 training, professional conduct, and accountability for not reporting. These findings could be used for positive social change to decrease barriers to reporting, improve mandatory reporting and sexual harassment training, and keep students safe from harm.

Underreporting of Educator Sexual Misconduct in K-12 Schools

by

Nina C. Kornegay

MA, The Chicago School of Professional Psychology, 2011 BS, North Carolina Central University, 2002

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Forensic Psychology

Walden University

December 2022

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to my circle. You all have supported me, checked on me, listened to me vent, and, most importantly, prayed for me. Without any of you, I don't know if I would have made it this far. Thank you from the bottom of my heart. I love you all!!

Acknowledgments

First, I would like to acknowledge my mom, Carrie L. Kornegay. You have been my number-one supporter since Day 1. You knew this journey would not be easy, but you pushed me and encouraged me the entire way.

Second, I would like to thank Dr. Desi Richter. Not only were you my dissertation coach, but you were a life coach as well. You saw me, and you poured into me. Thank you for walking me through this process.

Next, I would like to thank my committee member, Dr. Aaron Pierce. I will never forget your words, "Don't stop, just keep going." I appreciate your feedback and encouragement.

And to my chair, Dr. David Rentler, thank you for joining me on this journey. I have learned a great deal along the way. You have been firm yet fair with me during this process. I appreciate you for that because it has taught be to be a better scholar.

And lastly, to my guardian angel, Darrin Deon Bruton, thank you for loving me the way you did. I selfishly wanted you to stay, but I know you had to go. I know you are proud of me. Keep watching over me. I love you, and I miss you!!

Table of Contents

List	of Tables	. V
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study		
]	Background	. 1
]	Problem Statement	. 3
]	Purpose of the Study	. 4
]	Research Questions	. 4
(Conceptual Framework	. 5
1	Nature of the Study	. 5
]	Definitions	. 6
1	Assumptions	. 7
S	Scope and Delimitations	. 7
]	Limitations	. 7
S	Significance	. 8
\$	Summary	.9
Chaj	pter 2: Literature Review1	0 ا
(Conceptual Framework 1	0 ا
]	Educators Reporting Methods Using the I-Change Model	l 1
J	Educator Sexual Misconduct	12
l	Effects of Childhood Sexual Abuse	13
J	Effects of Educator Sexual Misconduct	14
1	History of Mandatory Reporting	14

	CAPTA	15	
	Title 9	16	
	Barriers to Mandatory Reporting	18	
	Lack of Implementation	19	
	Lack of Training and Awareness	21	
	Lack of Confidence	23	
	Other Barriers to Reporting	25	
	Summary	27	
Cł	napter 3: Research Method	29	
	Research Design and Rationale	29	
	Role of the Researcher	30	
	Methodology	31	
	Participant Selection	31	
	Instrumentation	32	
	Procedures	33	
	Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	34	
	Data Analysis	35	
	Issues of Trustworthiness	36	
	Ethical Procedures	37	
	Summary	38	
Ch	Chapter 4: Results		
	Setting	39	

Demographics	40
Data Collection.	40
Data Analysis	41
Evidence of Trustworthiness	42
Credibility	42
Transferability	42
Dependability	43
Confirmability	43
Results	44
RQ1: Barriers to Reporting Incidents of Educator Sexual Misconduct	46
RQ2: Overcoming Barriers to Reporting	52
Summary	54
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	55
Interpretation of the Findings	55
Barriers to Reporting Educator Sexual Misconduct	55
Overcoming Barriers to Reporting Educator Sexual Misconduct	60
Limitations of the Study	63
Recommendations	64
Implications	65
Conclusion	66
References	68
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	82

Appendix B: Recruitment Fl	yer	83

List of Tables

Table 1. Study Themes and Descriptions Relating to RQ1 Regarding Barriers to	
Reporting Educator Sexual Misconduct in K–12 Schools	45
Table 2. Study Themes and Descriptions Relating to RQ2 Regarding Overcoming	
Barriers to Reporting Educator Sexual Misconduct in K–12 Schools	46

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Federal and state laws protect students from any sexual misconduct by school employees (Grant et al., 2019). However, educator sexual misconduct continues to be an issue in U.S. K–12 schools. An estimated one in 10 K–12 students may experience sexual misconduct at the hands of an educator (Grant & Heinecke, 2019). According to Grant et al. (2019), school systems must provide educators with policies and training regarding awareness and prevention of educator sexual misconduct.

Grant and Heinecke (2019) asserted that despite federal and state laws, cases of educator sexual misconduct go unreported. Mandatory reporting laws require law enforcement and child protective services to be notified when an incident of educator sexual misconduct is suspected. The authors continued that the mandatory reporting law imposes consequences for those who fail to report any suspected incidents of educator sexual misconduct. Despite these consequences, educator sexual offenders go without punishment and transfer to a different school or school district where they might reoffend.

Background

Educator sexual misconduct remains an understudied yet continuous problem in U.S. K–12 schools (Grant et al., 2019). In a literature review search on the topic, Shakeshaft (2004, as cited in Grant et al., 2019; Wurtele et al., 2019) found approximately 9.6% of U.S. K–12 students (i.e., 5 million students) are victims of sexual misconduct. Out of those 5 million students, an estimated one in 10 can experience sexual maltreatment by a school employee (U.S. Department of Education [DOE], 2004). A

school employee can be anyone who works in or cares for a child in a K–12 setting or activity (Henschel & Grant, 2018). The current study focused on K–12 educators in the United States.

Under the federal Child Abuse Prevention and Treatment Act (CAPTA), each state must provide provisions for keeping children safe from harm. As a result, 47 out of 50 states developed mandatory reporting laws. Designated individuals, including educators in K–12 schools, must report any suspicion of child maltreatment (Child Welfare Information Gateway Children's Bureau, 2015). However, the law lacks accountability measures that would ensure implementation (Grant & Heinecke, 2019).

Educator sexual misconduct can affect students, educators, and the school system. Victims of educator sexual misconduct may struggle in school, become depressed, or turn to substance abuse (Grant et al., 2019; Wurtele et al., 2019). Grant and Heinecke (2019) explained educators and school systems may experience backlash, a tainted reputation, and financial consequences if found responsible for incidents of educator sexual misconduct. Consequently, despite mandatory reporting laws, incidents of educator sexual misconduct go unreported.

Previous studies have shown educators, school administrators, and county officials perceive barriers exist to reporting incidents of educator sexual misconduct. However, these studies have not primarily focused on barriers to reporting perceived by K–12 educators. A lack of research also existed regarding how to overcome barriers to reporting. The current study focused on the perspective of K–12 educators regarding

barriers to reporting incidents of educator sexual misconduct and overcoming those barriers.

Problem Statement

Educator sexual misconduct in K–12 schools is vastly underreported (Grant & Heinecke, 2019). According to a study by the Chicago Tribune, school officials frequently failed to report incidents of educator sexual misconduct toward students (Jackson et al., 2018). Over the last 10 years in Chicago, students reported over 500 cases of educator sexual misconduct to the police. However, school officials generally failed to report these cases. The issue of underreporting is not unique to Chicago Schools (Keierleber, 2019). Abboud et al. (2018) asserted underreporting also occurs in other states where the authors found a lack of documentation of incidents of educator sexual misconduct. Abboud et al. also noted that because no unified way of measuring the prevalence of incidents has been established, the magnitude of the impact remains unknown.

Underreporting of educator sexual misconduct perpetuates the incidence of educator sexual misconduct in U.S. K–12 schools (Grant & Heinecke, 2019). Unreported cases of educator sexual misconduct allow offending educators to transfer to different school districts without consequences (Grant et al., 2019). Moving without consequences allows perpetrators to reoffend. The Government Accountability Office (2010, as cited in Grant et al., 2019) reported that a teacher-offender could assault approximately 73 victims across three school districts due to their misconduct not being reported.

Although underreporting remains an undeniable issue, researchers know little about why underreporting occurs from the perspective of K–12 educators. Even though researchers have noted the problem of underreporting (Fromuth et al., 2016; Grant & Heinecke, 2019), they have not centered this topic in their research agendas. For example, Grant et al. (2019) noted that underreporting represents one barrier to Title 9 implementation in K–12 schools. However, the researchers focused on how to better implement Title 9 practices without exploring why school officials fail to report. K–12 educators could provide valuable information to help fill this gap in the literature. Therefore, the researcher identified a need for a study addressing K–12 educators' perspectives on underreporting of educator sexual misconduct.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this phenomenological exploratory study was to investigate U.S. K–12 educators' perspectives related to the underreporting of educator sexual misconduct. Specifically, the researcher explored two main facets of the underreporting phenomenon: K–12 educators' perspectives of barriers to reporting and potential ways to overcome those barriers. The researcher had determined a need existed to address the gap in understanding underreporting by seeking K–12 educators' thoughts regarding barriers to underreporting and how to overcome them.

Research Questions

The following research questions guided this study.

RQ1: What are the experiences of U.S. K–12 educators regarding barriers to reporting educator sexual misconduct?

RQ2: What are the experiences of U.S. K–12 educators regarding potential ways to overcome barriers to reporting educator sexual misconduct?

Conceptual Framework

The integrated change (I-change) model served as the conceptual framework for this study. The I-change model integrates concepts from the theory of planned behavior, social cognitive theory, the transtheoretical model, the health belief model, and goal-setting theories (Goebbels et al., 2008). Schols et al. (2013) contended that, according to the I-change model, an individual's behavior is influenced by attitude, ability, and social influences. Theorists who subscribe to the I-change model assume that motivation is determined by predisposing factors, information factors, awareness factors, motivational factors, intention state, ability factors, behavioral state, and barriers (Goebbels et al., 2008).

The researcher in the present study used the I-change model to categorize the reporting behaviors of K–12 educators. The motivational factors of the I-change model corresponded with previous studies regarding teachers' reporting behaviors (Goebbels et al., 2008). Because teachers must report any suspicion of child abuse, educational leaders must understand the barriers to reporting coworkers and ways to overcome those barriers.

Nature of the Study

The researcher chose a qualitative exploratory phenomenological design for its suitability for identifying the essence of human experiences about a phenomenon as described by participants (see Creswell, 2013). The researcher collected data for the study from semistructured interviews with eight educators working in K–12 schools in North

Carolina. Semistructured interviews enabled the researcher to ask K–12 educators openended questions and allowed respondents to answer in their own words (see Longhurst, 2010). The exploratory phenomenological approach enabled the researcher to delve deeper into perceptions of barriers to underreporting educator sexual misconduct and how to overcome those barriers.

Definitions

The researcher used the following terms and definitions during the course of this study.

Child maltreatment refers to physical, verbal, emotional, or sexual abuse or neglect (a).

Educator refers to a teacher responsible for fostering intellectual development and ensuring the safety of students in school and during school activities (Wurtele et al., 2019).

Educator sexual misconduct was defined by Shakeshaft (2004, as cited in Abboud et al., 2018) as any "behavior by an educator aimed at a student and intended to sexually arouse or titillate the educator or the child" (p. 1).

Physical behaviors include fondling, kissing, penetration, or touching of genitalia (Burgess et al., 2010).

Student refers to any person enrolled in an educational institution through Grade 12 (Abboud et al., 2018).

Verbal behaviors involve sexual talk (Burgess et al., 2010).

Visual behaviors involve showing pornography (Burgess et al., 2010).

Assumptions

In this study, the researcher assumed participants would find the topic of barriers to reporting educator sexual misconduct valuable and would have a genuine interest in participating in the study. The researcher also assumed that all educators who participated would respond truthfully about their perceptions. Third, the researcher assumed K–12 educators would not fear negative perceptions or experience any repercussions for participating in the study. Last, the researcher assumed participants understood their identity would be protected.

Scope and Delimitations

The researcher designed the study with a goal of understanding K–12 educators' perspectives regarding barriers to reporting suspected incidents of educator misconduct and ways to overcome those barriers. The scope of the study included educators from K–12 schools in North Carolina. The study did not include school administrators or other school employees. The researcher collected data using semistructured interviews and observations of K–12 educators in North Carolina.

Limitations

One potential limitation of this study was the difficulty of recruiting K–12 educators. Due to the possibility of exposing a school's Title 9 violations, school district leaders may have been hesitant to allow educators to participate in the study. Participants may have also hesitated to participate due to prior incidents regarding educator sexual misconduct or a family member's involvement. Another limitation of this study involved

the limited availability of literature regarding underreporting of educator sexual misconduct.

The potential for researcher bias also existed because the researcher had personal and professional knowledge on the topic of educator sexual misconduct and had read about the topic in the literature. The researcher avoided actions or statements that could influence participants' thought processes or responses during the interviews. The researcher kept a reflective journal to record thoughts throughout the research process. This activity helped the researcher recognize whether conscious or unconscious biases were emerging during data collection.

Significance

This research may contribute to the literature because it addressed underreporting from the perspectives of K–12 educators, a population charged with keeping students safe. This research may also contribute to the literature by providing descriptions of the experiences of K–12 educators related to why educator sexual misconduct goes unreported. The results of this study may help inform school administrators of the barriers to reporting and strategies needed to overcome them. If these barriers are overcome, more incidents of educator sexual misconduct may be reported. By reporting incidents of educator sexual misconduct, educators may be able to prevent teacher-offenders from transferring to another school and reoffending (Grant et al., 2019). The positive social change implications of this study involved its potential to help educators prevent additional or ongoing student abuse.

Summary

Incidents of educator sexual misconduct continue to be an issue in U.S. K–12 schools, and many of these cases remain unreported. This chapter provided background on why incidents of educator sexual misconduct go unreported. The researcher presented the need for the study, the research questions, and definitions of key terms and phrases. Chapter 2 presents a detailed literature review that includes information on the I-change model, sexual misconduct legislation, the harmful effects of sexual abuse, and reporting and underreporting in various sectors.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

The purpose of this phenomenological exploratory study was to investigate U.S. K–12 educators' perspectives related to the underreporting of educator sexual misconduct. The researcher used semistructured interviews with educators at K-12 schools in North Carolina with the goal of understanding their perspectives on the responsibility to report fellow coworkers for misconduct. The first step in understanding this phenomenon involved conducting a thorough review of existing scholarly literature on the subject. To review existing scholarly literature, the researcher consulted major academic databases such as Google Scholar, PsycINFO, JSTOR, and EBSCOhost. Terms searched included educator sexual misconduct, teacher—student sexual misconduct, reporting educator sexual misconduct, and mandatory reporting. The researcher also checked the reviewed article's reference list to find any additional articles of interest. Chapter 2 includes a description of the conceptual framework followed by a review of the literature surrounding educator sexual misconduct, mandatory reporting laws, and underreporting of educator sexual misconduct. The chapter ends with a summary and conclusion.

Conceptual Framework

In this study, the researcher employed the I-change model, which integrates ideas from the theory of planned behavior, social cognitive theory, the transtheoretical model, the health belief model, and implementation and goal-setting theories (Goebbels et al., 2008). Researchers often use this model to examine and explain different health

behaviors (Kasten et al., 2019). Goebbels et al. (2008) explained how the components of the I-change model could be used to explain educators' reporting behaviors.

According to the I-change model, an individual's behavior derives from motivation, intention, and ability (de Vries et al., 2005). Attitudes, social influences, and self-efficacy expectations represent the three factors that determine an individual's motivation (de Vries et al., 2005). An individual's action plan and performance skills determine their abilities (Goebbels et al., 2008), and an individual's ability to recognize the advantages and disadvantages of their behavior determines their attitude (Goebbels et al., 2019). The I-change model is determined by motivational factors such as awareness, psychological, biological, social and cultural, and informational (de Vries et al., 2005).

Educators Reporting Methods Using the I-Change Model

Researchers have already applied the I-change model in the health field (Gobbels et al., 2008); however, the researcher applied it in this study to help describe the phenomenon of educator sexual misconduct reporting. According to Goebbels et al. (2008), attitudes, self-efficacy, intention, and social influences may motivate educators to report inappropriate teacher–student relationships. The authors added these factors can also cause barriers to reporting inappropriate teacher–student relationships. Goebbels et al. identified a need for additional research on how the variables of the I-change model could be used to understand educators' reporting methods.

The researcher determined the I-change model represented an appropriate choice as a foundation of this study because the study focused on perceptions of K–12 educators regarding barriers to reporting educator sexual misconduct and how to overcome them.

The model helped the researcher understand the behavioral change process as it related to the K–12 educators' reporting efforts. The following sections present a review of the literature concerned with understanding educator sexual misconduct, mandatory reporting, and understanding reporting by colleagues.

Educator Sexual Misconduct

Childhood sexual abuse is a preventable public health issue (Mathers et al., as cited in Assini-Meytin et al., 2020), yet educator sexual misconduct continues to be a threat to students in K–12 schools (Grant et al., 2019). According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2020), approximately one in four girls and one in 13 boys experience childhood sexual abuse. In 91% of those cases, the child or their family members knew the offender (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2020). In some cases, children experience sexual abuse at the hands of an educator. One in 10 students reported being a victim of educator sexual misconduct (Shakeshaft et al., 2019).

Childhood sexual misconduct by an educator is referred to as *educator sexual misconduct*. Shakeshaft (2013) coined this phrase to describe the inappropriate behavior of educators toward students. Wurtele et al. (2019) stated that even though most inappropriate behavior that occurs in a school is committed by an educator, other school employees such as administrators, janitors, school bus drivers, or counselors can sexually offend. After incidents of educator sexual misconduct, schools can face a backlash, civil suits, or a teacher who is left questioning their decision to report. Educator sexual abuse of children has far-reaching effects, causing long-term trauma such as psychological or behavioral problems (Grant et al., 2019).

Effects of Childhood Sexual Abuse

The effects of child sexual abuse and harassment can negatively impact an adolescent's life, and the effects can manifest into adulthood. Children can experience sexual abuse from a family member or a stranger (Hall & Hall, 2011). According to Hall and Hall (2011), not all sexual abuse involves touching, but it can involve coercion into taking sexually explicit photographs, internet harassment, or exposure to pornographic material. Hailes et al. (2019) reported a correlation between childhood sexual abuse and psychosocial and health-related problems.

Hall and Hall (2011) reported depression as the most reported long-term effect of childhood sexual abuse. As a result of depression, survivors can engage in suicide ideations, substance abuse, or self-harm (Hailes et al., 2019). Other symptoms resulting from childhood sexual abuse include eating disorders and avoidance (Briere & Elliott, 1994; Chen et al., 2010; Nanni et al., 2012, all cited in Li et al., 2016). Brenner and Ben-Amitay (2015) reported victims of childhood sexual abuse could be revictimized in adulthood, and Bigras et al. (2015) claimed they can experience a disturbance in self-capacity, causing a decrease in self-worth. Bigras et al. added that some survivors experience reduced sexual satisfaction and sexual distress.

Childhood sexual abuse can also impact interpersonal relationships (Dugal et al., 2016). According to Dugal et al. (2016), victims may lack social support and socially isolate themselves from others. Dugal et al. suggested that romantic relationships present challenges and often lead to dysfunctional relationships. The authors added victims may

experience abandonment anxieties and avoidance of intimacy, and some victims of childhood sexual abuse experience intimate partner violence.

Effects of Educator Sexual Misconduct

Victims of educator sexual misconduct suffer emotionally and psychologically, but they can also suffer academically (Wurtele et al., 2019). Victims begin missing days from school and perform poorly academically. According to Shakeshaft (date, as cited by Shakeshaft et al., 2019), some victims commit suicide, and Shakeshaft et al. (2019) asserted victims can feel guilty and ashamed. Students do not suffer alone; their parents and family members can also experience long-term emotional and financial consequences (Wurtele et al., 2019).

According to Shakeshaft et al. (2019), the community as a whole can suffer from an educator-predator's actions; this negative effect applies especially to teachers, administrators, and school districts. Shakeshaft et al. explained that educator sexual misconduct can ruin a school district's reputation. Wurtele et al. (2019) asserted that the educator perpetrator can have their license revoked and be criminally charged, and victims may seek damages, holding school systems financially responsible. Shakeshaft et al. reported some school districts have paid anywhere from 3 to \$26 million to settle civil suits.

History of Mandatory Reporting

To address the problem of child sexual abuse, the U.S. government has enacted several laws. Child protection agencies promoting awareness of child maltreatment date back to the 1920s. The National Abuse and Neglect Training and Publications Project

(2014) explained the federal government was not initially involved in child protection and other social service agencies. The organization claimed that after the Great Depression, a lack of funding led to the dismantling of many agencies. According to the author, the federal government became involved in the welfare of people with the 1935 signing of the Social Security Act.

According to the National Abuse and Neglect Training and Publications Project 2014), years after legislators signed the Social Security Act, various agencies received questionnaires designed to gather information about the need for child protective services. The National Abuse and Neglect Training and Publications Project reported that 1960s media coverage of child abuse and neglect increased. The Child Bureau met with lawyers, judges, social workers, and hospital employees to draft a document proposing hospital staff and doctors be mandatory reporters. The National Abuse and Neglect Training and Publications Project continued that by 1967, all states and the District of Columbia had passed laws regarding mandatory reporting of suspected child abuse and neglect. However, the author added that the conversation about child abuse and neglect did not stop there; it eventually reached the U.S. House of Representatives, which adopted the CAPTA of 1974 to prevent child abuse and neglect.

CAPTA

In addition to mandatory reporting laws in 1974, the federal government adopted CAPTA to handle incidents of child abuse (Golomb et al., 2017). CAPTA required each state to develop guidelines for investigating and reporting suspected incidents of child abuse (Nelson et al. 1984, as cited in Golomb et al., 2017). Hogelin (2013) asserted

another responsibility of CAPTA was to provide funding for child abuse prevention. The author explained funding relies on the state's compliance with mandated guidelines to create reporting and prevention programs. According to Hogelin, CAPTA also provided immunity to individuals who reported incidents of child maltreatment. Eventually, the Children's Justice Act emerged from CAPTA (Golden, 2000). Golden (2000) stated the Children's Justice Act provides states with tools for investigating and prosecuting child sexual abuse cases. The author explained CAPTA next led to the development of research and demonstration projects related to the cause, prevention, and treatment of child maltreatment.

CAPTA has been amended and reauthorized throughout the years. The Child Welfare Information Gateway (2019) pointed out CAPTA's last reauthorization occurred on December 20, 2010, with the most recent amendment occurring on January 7, 2019. The amendment added procedures and provisions covering victims of sex trafficking and safety plans for children born affected by substance abuse (Child Welfare Information Gateway, 2019). CAPTA is not the only law written to protect children from abuse. Grant et al. (2019) stated the primary law for protecting children from maltreatment, especially educator sexual misconduct, is Title 9 of the Educational Amendments of 1972.

Title 9

Two years before passing CAPTA, legislators passed Title 9 of the Educational Amendments of 1972 with the aim of protecting students and educators from discrimination, sexual harassment, and sexual violence (Broadway & Marcotte, 2014).

According to Grant et al. (2019), the DOE, the Office of Civil Rights (OCR), the Office

of Safe and Healthy Students, and the National Center for Education, all enforce Title 9. Legislators originally established Title 9 in response to the unfair treatment women faced in the educational arena during the 1970s (U.S. Department of Justice, 2012). Title 9 mandated: "no person in the United States shall, on the basis of sex, be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subject to discrimination under any educational program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance" (as cited in Lieberwitz et al., 2016, p. 4).

Lieberwitz et al. (2016) reported that over the years, the OCR adjusted Title 9, extending it in the 1980s to address inappropriate sexual misconduct. The authors stated that as part of Title 9's evolution, The National Advisory Council in Women's Educational Programs suggested the OCR define sexual harassment. According to Lieberwitz et al., other changes came after lawsuits regarding sexual harassment surfaced. The authors reported that in 1992, the Supreme Court ruled that under Title 9, victims of sexual harassment could receive monetary compensation.

In 2011, the OCR and DOE released the Revised Sexual Harassment Guidance. Two important documents released as supplements included the "Dear Colleague Letter: Sexual Violence" (U.S. DOE & OCR, 2011) and "Questions and Answers on Title 9 and Sexual Violence" (U.S. DOE & OCR, 2014). These documents provided guidelines on addressing the rise of sexual violence and sexual harassment, reinforcing the school's obligation to implement Title 9 by appointing a responsible person or mandatory reporter and by publishing Title 9 policies, steps which would provide the public with their legal rights under Title 9 (DOE & OCR, 2014). In 2017, the newly appointed U.S. Secretary of

Education, Betsy DeVos, rescinded the "Dear Colleague Letter" and the "Questions and Answers on Title 9 and Sexual Violence," giving greater protections to accused students and reducing responsibilities of investigating complaints (Brown & Mangan, 2018).

Phenicie (2019) asserted the proposed changes to Title 9 set forth by DeVos did not fit the needs of K–12 schools. The author continued that one of the main proposed changes to Title 9 was to investigate cases of harassment only if they interfered with the student's ability to learn. Phenicie explained that any suspicions of educator sexual misconduct must be reported. Changes to Title 9 regarding who reporters should inform of investigations conflicted with existing mandatory reporting laws. Proposed changes suggested individuals report their suspicions to the school's Title 9 coordinator; however, the guidelines related to the North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services (2018) stated the first step is to provide an oral or written report to the Department of Social Services in the child's county of residence. Phenicie reported most of the changes to Title 9 related to decreasing incidents of sexual misconduct at higher education and college campuses than at K–12 schools. Even though the main focus has been higher education, the OCR and DOE must write guidelines including the specific needs of K–12 schools.

Barriers to Mandatory Reporting

Understanding the known barriers to reporting educator sexual misconduct may help educators overcome them. Although researchers in the literature did not address barriers to reporting or overcoming those barriers, they did identify some barriers. These barriers include a lack of government policy implementation (Grant & Heinecke, 2019),

lack of training and awareness (Falkiner et al., 2017; Grant et al., 2019; Kenny, 2001), and fear of consequences (Falkiner et al., 2017).

Lack of Implementation

Grant and Heinecke (2019) attributed unreported educator sexual misconduct to a failure to implement governmental policy. Additionally, the authors explained that legislators often leave policy language vague and open to interpretation. Schools cannot properly implement policies that are not clearly worded, and subsequently, teachers cannot report if they feel confused about the policies. Hence, poor implementation of policies contributes to underreporting. Grant and Heinecke and Grant et al. (2019) conducted two studies highlighting reasons for poor policy implementation. Using a multiple case study (n = 42), Grant and Heinecke examined the intergovernmental system and the implementation of educator sexual misconduct policies in three school districts in the state of Virginia. Participants for this study included school district, county, state, and federal government employees. The researchers conducted semistructured interviews and analyzed the data using Erikson's analytic induction. In the second study, Grant et al. conducted a multiple case study (n = 92) examining the implementation of the key elements of Title 9 in K-12 schools before and after an incident of educator sexual misconduct. The authors conducted the study between January 2016 and September 2017. They collected data using document analysis, semistructured interviews, and focus groups with secondary actors. Participants included school employees, school administrators, and county officials. The authors analyzed data using analytic induction.

Grant and Heinecke (2019) described an intergovernmental system as an educational system with several layers: federal, state, and local school districts. The authors added that state departments of education, school districts, schools, child welfare agencies, district attorneys, and local law enforcement all manage educator sexual misconduct policies. These agencies all share policy changes and implementation (O'Toole et al., 2012, as cited in Grant & Heinecke, 2019). Grant and Heinecke stated that having multiple agencies involved in policy implementation "creates an unstable system" for policy implementation with many severe, unintended consequences" (p. 9). Grant and Heinecke (2019) found that intergovernmental policy implementation failed for a variety of reasons, including vaguely written policies. According to the authors, vague policies intentionally allow those charged with implementing them to do so at their own discretion. The authors claimed the second reason for policy implementation failure involved lack of communication between agencies. The third reason for intergovernmental policy implementation was because there was a gap in preventing sexual predators from being in the classroom. Grant and Heinecke listed lack of background checks, improper record keeping, allowing an educator accused of sexual misconduct to transfer to another school district without consequences, and unsearchable criminal records as examples of failing to keep predators out of the classroom.

Grant et al. (2019) showed participants' challenges included "being unaware of model policies from either state- or district-level sources, difficulties addressing the use of evolving technologies to interact with students, and the ambiguity of boundaries around physical contact" (p. 11). The authors explained participants specifically wanted a

policy regarding technology and the use of social media and texting with students, and they wanted clear, written policies surrounding physical boundaries and shows of affection toward students.

Both Grant and Heinecke (2019) and Grant et al. (2019) contributed knowledge about why teachers underreport. However, they fell short on three key fronts: sample size, population, and purpose. Both studies featured small sample sizes. The second limitation involved the population of the studies. Both sets of researchers interviewed several individuals, including attorneys, principals, counselors, educators, and other governmental officials. Even though educators were interviewed, however, the researchers did not focus on them in the studies. Grant and Heinecke focused on the intergovernmental implementation of policies, and Grant et al. focused on Title 9 implementation as a whole. Reporting represented a small facet of those areas of interest. Therefore, the authors did not address educator reporting in their findings in an in-depth way. Some of the findings served as jumping-off points for this current study of barriers to reporting and overcoming those barriers.

Lack of Training and Awareness

Under the U.S. Government Accountability Office (GAO's) (2014) guidance,

Title 9 implementation requires the provision of sexual abuse training to school

employees. However, studies have indicated educators are not receiving proper training

on sexual abuse and harassment nor on how to properly report it (Grant & Heinecke,

2019; Grant et al., 2019; Kenny, 2001). For example, Kenny (2001) conducted a study on
the number of reported incidents of child maltreatment by professionals and how often

the professionals failed to report it. Kenny administered the Child Abuse Questionnaire—which consisted of items relating to personal demographics, reporting history, and knowledge of training in child abuse—to first-year physicians (n = 28) and first-year teachers (n = 28). The author found physicians, who reportedly received more training on child maltreatment, reported more incidents of child maltreatment than teachers. Physicians and teachers responded to not being aware of signs of child neglect or sexual or physical abuse.

Wurtele et al. (2019) conducted research on the prevalence of educator sexual misconduct and how to reduce its risk. The authors created seven standards to serve as an operational framework to help prevent educator sexual misconduct. These standards included a screening and hiring process, a code of conduct, ensuring safe environments, a staff–student communication policy, training, monitoring, supervision, and reporting concerns. Standard 5: Staff/Parent/Student Training and Standard 7: Reporting Concerns both related to training and reporting.

According to Wurtele et al. (2019), not all school employees receive training on educator sexual misconduct-related topics. The GAO (2014) stated that only 18 states require school districts to provide educator sexual misconduct training. Wurtele et al. found the states that required training focused on mandatory reporting rather than on being able to recognize inappropriate conduct by an educator. School employees who can recognize and properly report suspected educator sexual misconduct help to reduce the risk of future offenses.

Even though Wurtele et al. (2019) contributed to the literature on the prevention of educator sexual misconduct, they focused on the literature review and not on the educators' perspectives. However, the researcher in this present study considered the results of Wurtele et al. as guidance when asking participants to share their perspectives on lack of training as a barrier to reporting incidents of educator sexual misconduct and how to overcome that barrier.

Lack of Confidence

Another reason educators fail to report incidents of educator sexual misconduct is that they lack confidence. Falkiner et al. (2017) conducted a qualitative study to determine what barriers, if any, keep an educator from reporting incidents of maltreatment to the appropriate agencies. The participants for this study included 30 randomly sampled primary teachers of students in Grades 1–3. Eighty percent of the participants were female, and 30% were male. The authors used a professional agency to recruit participants; chose a qualitative design; collected data using two-part, semistructured face-to-face interviews; and used deductive-thematic analysis to analyze the data.

Falkiner et al. (2017) explored barriers such as complex reporting laws and policies, unclear reporting methods, and lack of training as possible reasons educators failed to report child maltreatment. The authors identified two broad themes in their analysis, attributing teachers' failure to report incidents of maltreatment to inconsistent and inadequate mandatory reporting training and a lack of confidence in reporting. The authors believed that the lack of confidence resulted from the lack of adequate and

consistent mandatory training. Participants believed they lacked the thorough training needed to recognize when a student was a victim of maltreatment. Some participants stated obvious signs of harm would make it easier for teachers to report maltreatment. Falkiner et al. reported the following participant statement:

I guess I would expect there to be more physical signs for physical abuse. And I think with neglect that perhaps there would be more signs than maybe sexual abuse. I'd know what to look out for. Whereas perhaps for sexual abuse there are also indicators but I'm less aware of what I'd be looking for. (p. 43)

Falkiner et al. (2017) continued that participants were afraid to report child maltreatment based on suspicion alone, worrying it would cause more problems. One participant stated:

I guess being unsure and I guess not knowing the implications of that either on the child or on the family. I guess knowing if I'm not correct how does that affect the child, are they going to get into trouble or am I causing harm to the family? (p. 43)

Because of their uncertainty about reporting child maltreatment, teachers in the Falkiner et al. (2017) study feared repercussions for the students and themselves, especially if they lacked confidence in their reporting. According to Grant et al. (2019), participants feared being fired or ruining their reputations if the accusations turned out to be false. They also feared the parents or guardians would be investigated, or the children would be removed from their homes (Falkiner et al., 2017).

Other Barriers to Reporting

Researchers have shown additional reasons for underreporting of educator sexual misconduct include lack of implementation, lack of knowledge, and fear of reporting consequences. Morejohn (2006) conducted a study to evaluate educators' knowledge of reporting child maltreatment, their experience with reporting, and barriers to reporting. The author used a questionnaire to gather data from educators (n = 47) at three elementary schools in Modesto City School District. Morejohn found most of the educators received some form of training but noted it was either outdated or it pertained to college students rather than a K–12 setting. According to Morejohn, most participants suspected child abuse and reported it. However, the participants acknowledged barriers existed to reporting child maltreatment. In addition to some of the most common barriers to reporting, participants stated frustrations with Child Protective Services, difficulty proving there was actual abuse, and the fear of nothing being done to protect the students.

In another study, Bazon and Faleiros (2013) asked educational professionals their thoughts on reporting child maltreatment, how they handled cases of child maltreatment, and if they did not and why they did not report the cases. The participants included principles, assistant principals, and educators (n = 139) recruited from 14 daycare centers, preschools, and elementary schools in two towns in Sao Paulo, Brazil. The authors collected data using a questionnaire with open- and closed-ended questions surrounding the participants' sociodemographic characteristics, knowledge of reporting child maltreatment, and attitude toward reporting. The second data collection method involved an open-ended question about reasons educators failed to report suspected incidents of

child maltreatment. Bazon and Faleiros explained they administered the second data collection method 50 hr after implementing the first questionnaire. The authors analyzed data using a qualitative–interpretive approach and found that 73% of the participants reported having contact with students who experienced child maltreatment. Bazon and Faleiros found it odd for the remainder of the participants to report that they had never been in contact with students who experienced child maltreatment considering the years they had taught. The participants reported a desire to resolve the issue of child maltreatment within the school instead of reporting it to outside agencies. Attitudes serve as a component of the I-change model, so the researcher in this current study used this to determine the motivations behind the barriers that prevent educators from reporting educator sexual misconduct.

Bazon and Faleiros (2013) stated that a lack of commitment to the problem presented an additional barrier to reporting child maltreatment. Instead of teachers reporting suspected incidents of child maltreatment, they voiced their concerns to others who might handle the situation. Some educators felt reporting took time-consuming and presented a danger, with some seeing the abuse as the student's problem. According to Bazon and Faleiros, individuals choose whether or not to report according to their personal values but may not understand that not reporting could cause greater harm to the students.

Lumen Learning (2020) explained a qualitative—interpretative approach can be expensive and time-consuming, especially with a large amount of data. Bazon and Faleiros (2013) mentioned methodological limitations and the limits of having a large

sample size. Despite their large sample size, the authors only recruited educators and principals from daycare, preschool, and elementary schools. To show diversity, therefore, the researcher in this study included middle and high school educators while also conducting an inexpensive study that was completed on time.

Summary

The primary goal of this qualitative phenomenological study was to explore the perceptions of U.S. K–12 educators regarding barriers to reporting educator sexual misconduct and ways to overcome those barriers. First, this literature review revealed that educators serve as mandatory reporters, so they must report any suspicion of child abuse and neglect. Secondly, the review showed failing to report suspicions of educator sexual misconduct can affect a child's life. Last, existing research indicated that despite mandatory reporting laws, some educators fail to report suspicion of child maltreatment.

Some literature existed on barriers to reporting, but the researchers in those studies did not focus primarily on K–12 educators. Rather, they included a mixture of participants who ranged from educators to government officials and school administrators. In this current study, the research solely focused on K–12 educators who served as mandatory reporters and who spent a great deal of time with students. A second topic overlooked in the literature search involved barriers to reporting suspected incidents of educator sexual misconduct. In the literature, researchers studying child maltreatment did not specify if the child maltreatment was perpetrated by a parent or guardian, classmate, educator, or another school employee. In this current study, the researcher focused on child sexual maltreatment by an educator. Researchers in the existing

literature also failed to ask educators about their perceptions of how to overcome barriers to reporting. Grant et al. (2019) conducted the only study where researchers asked educators about recommendations for how to overcome barriers to reporting. The researcher in this current study included the same practice when asking educators about overcoming barriers to reporting other educators. The current study can potentially increase awareness of reporting practices, barriers to reporting, and ways to overcome barriers to educator sexual misconduct among K–12 educators. The next chapter presents the research methodology for the study. It includes the research design, the researcher's rationale, and the step-by-step method undertaken to conduct the study.

Chapter 3: Research Method

The purpose of this phenomenological exploratory study was to investigate U.S. K–12 educators' perspectives related to the underreporting of educator sexual misconduct. The researcher explored two main facets of the underreporting phenomenon: K–12 educators' perspectives of barriers to reporting and potential ways to overcome those barriers. This approach provided a deeper understanding of K–12 educators' experiences in reporting colleagues suspected of sexual misconduct. This chapter includes a discussion of the applicability of the I-change model approach. It also presents the research design and rationale, the role of the researcher, participant selection, procedures, data analysis, ethical procedures, and a summary.

Research Design and Rationale

The following two research questions addressed guided this study:

- RQ1: What are the experiences of U.S. K–12 educators regarding barriers to reporting educator sexual misconduct?
- RQ2: What are the experiences of U.S. K–12 educators regarding potential ways to overcome barriers to reporting educator sexual misconduct?

Grant et al. (2019) explained that Title 9 laws require schools to protect students from misconduct by a teacher. Grant and Heinecke (2019) added that for further protection, most states have mandatory reporting laws requiring educators to report any suspicions of child abuse or neglect. Grant and Heinecke explained that despite mandatory reporting laws, some educators failed to report incidents of misconduct.

According to Grant and Heinecke, educators failed to report for a variety of reasons.

Consequently, underreporting of educator sexual misconduct presents an opportunity for offending teachers to leave their school without penalties and transfer to another school district and reoffend.

The phenomenological approach enables researchers to explore a phenomenon from the perspective of those experiencing it (Neubauer et al., 2019). Neubauer et al. (2019) asserted that the intended goal of a phenomenological study is to describe "what was experienced and how it was experienced" (p. 91). The researcher in this current study identified an exploratory phenomenological design as one of the best options for this qualitative study because it would illuminate the perspectives of K–12 educators regarding underreporting of educator sexual misconduct. This approach also provided a deeper understanding of the perspectives of K–12 educators regarding barriers to reporting and how they can overcome those barriers.

The researcher used the exploratory qualitative approach to collect data by asking open-ended questions in semistructured interviews. The researcher also followed up with additional questions to gain more understanding of the educators' perspectives regarding barriers to reporting educator sexual misconduct and how to overcome those barriers.

Role of the Researcher

I am a full-time educator at a high school in the eastern United States who had taught a forensic science course for 2 years. In addition to teaching at the high school, I taught a psychology course part-time to college students. I did not have supervisory roles over K–12 educators, including those participating in this study. I managed any biases by excluding any current coworkers from participating in the study.

Ravitch and Carl (2016) described the role of the researcher as the primary instrument of data collection. As the researcher, I was involved in every step of the research process. I followed all necessary guidelines to protect the participants and myself. I collected all data by conducting semistructured interviews. I also analyzed and reported the results.

Additionally, as the researcher, I needed to be clear and concise in communicating the purpose of the study to the participants. Because of the study's sensitive nature, I ensured confidentiality for all participants. I provided the participants with my contact information, my dissertation chair's name, and the institutional review board (IRB) approval number so they had the information they needed if they had questions or concerns during the study.

Methodology

The researcher chose a qualitative exploratory phenomenological approach for this study because interviews can be used to gather information on a participant's beliefs, experiences, or expert knowledge (Harrell & Bradley, 2009). The researcher gathered data using semistructured interviews with K–12 educators in North Carolina.

Participant Selection

Population

The researcher chose to include K–12 educators as the study population because, as mandatory reporters, they must keep students safe. Participants were practicing educators with a minimum of 2 years of teaching experience. Morse (2000) contended

that phenomenological studies require fewer participants than other studies and suggested a range between six and 10 participants.

Sampling

The researcher employed both purposeful and snowball sampling of participants. Purposeful sampling is commonly used in qualitative research (Palinkas et al., 2015). Creswell and Plano-Clark (2011) stated that purposeful sampling is used to gather participants' knowledge about the phenomenon. The researcher purposefully selected K–12 educators based on their role as mandatory reporters and their experience deciding whether to report incidents of educator sexual misconduct. The researcher randomly selected 10 K–12 schools from two school districts in North Carolina. The researcher contacted the educators via email to invite them to participate (see Appendix A) and to ask them to help in the recruitment process. The email included a recruitment flyer (see Appendix B) so participants could pass them out to other potential participants.

Instrumentation

Jamshed (2014) stated that interviews are the most common data collection method. For the current qualitative study, the researcher gathered data from semistructured interviews. Semistructured interviews can include closed, open-ended, and follow-up questions (Adams, 2015). Employing semistructured interviews allowed the participants to give their perspectives on the underreporting of educator sexual misconduct (see Horton et al., 2004). According to Horten et al. (2004), semistructured interviews can also bring out any contradictions, consequences, and policy changes. For

the current study, K–12 educators gave their perspectives on barriers to underreporting of educator sexual misconduct and ways to overcome those barriers.

The interviews lasted between 45 and 60 min. The researcher recorded the interviews using a Wohlman digital voice recorder and took focused notes. Roller (2017) stated that note-taking comprises a critical part of the interview process. Roller explained note-taking heightens the researcher's awareness of any contradictory statements or quotes of important value. Recording the interviews allowed the researcher in this study to engage more fully in the conversation with the participants (see Newcomer et al., 2018). The researcher transcribed the interviews immediately after they concluded, then mailed the transcripts to participants, asking them to check for accuracy and to note changes or concerns where needed.

Procedures

The researcher selected eight K–12 educators who responded to the email invitation by contacting them via email to set up a convenient time and place to meet for the interview. The researcher conducted the interviews at a place that provided quiet and privacy. The local public library offered one potential location for these meetings. The interviews lasted approximately 45 min to 1 hr. The researcher ensured the teachers felt relaxed and comfortable and printed out the questions for the participants so they could read along and write notes if necessary. The researcher provided a pencil or ink pen for the participants' use and recorded each interview using a Wolman digital voice recorder. The researcher transcribed the interviews using Rev transcription services.

Before each interview began, the researcher asked the participants to sign the consent form. The researcher kept the participants' names confidential throughout the study and ensured no identifying information appeared in the written study. The researcher secured all of the collected data in their home, where no one else had access. Participants volunteered to take part in the study and received no compensation for their time.

The researcher notified the educators that they were free to exit the interview at any time. During the interviews, the researcher described the purpose of the research and provided information about the interview process and the obligation to protect their identity and the study data. The researcher instructed the teachers to answer all questions honestly and to the best of their ability. The interviews concluded with a thank you to the participants for taking part in the study.

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

For this study, the researcher selected eight K–12 school educators from two school districts in North Carolina. The school districts represented two of the largest school districts in North Carolina. The study criteria required participants to be currently teaching with a minimum of 2 years of experience. After receiving Walden University IRB approval, the researcher began the recruitment process, obtaining information for each participant from a public directory at each educator's respective school of employment. The researcher sent an email and a recruitment flyer to each educator, inviting them to participate in the study and asking for help recruiting other participants.

The email and recruitment flyer included details such as the study purpose, participant eligibility, study benefits, location, and scheduling.

Data Analysis

Semistructured interviews and focused notes helped the researcher collect data for this study. After transcribing and analyzing the interviews, the researcher organized the data by labeling and creating files (see LeCompte, 2000). According to LeCompte (2000), the next step involves data sifting. Data sifting occurred when the researcher thoroughly read over field notes and transcripts, identifying any topics that appeared numerous times or that needed further investigation. The next step involved coding the data.

To further analyze the data, the researcher employed a qualitative data analysis software program. According to Hilal and Alabri (2013), using a data analysis software program can help the user work more methodically and attentively. For this study, the researcher used NVivo to analyze the data. The NVivo qualitative data analysis software allowed the researcher to focus more on emerging themes and to deduce reasoning (see Hilal & Alabri, 2013). The next step in analyzing data involved assembling structure (see LeCompte, 2000), and the final step involved member checking. During member checking, a researcher asks participants to check for the accuracy of the data (Candela, 2019). In this study, the researcher sent participants a copy of the transcripts to ensure their responses were recorded correctly.

Issues of Trustworthiness

Pilot and Beck (2013, as cited in Connelly, 2016) described trustworthiness as how well the presentation and interpretation of data ensure data quality. Credibility represents the first and most important criterion for establishing trustworthiness (Pilot & Beck, 2013 as cited in Connelly, 2016). Patton (1999) explained one way to demonstrate credibility is through the researcher. In a qualitative study, the researcher acts as the instrument of data collection. The author added that researchers can bolster their credibility through their training, experience, and preparation for the study. Member checking provides another way for researchers to establish credibility. Member checking occurs when the researcher returns the interview transcripts to the participants to ensure the results are reported accurately (Birt et al., 2016). Shenton (2004) asserted the last way a researcher can demonstrate credibility is through reflective commentary. In this current study, the researcher provided reflective commentary during the data collection steps and when emerging themes became evident during data analysis.

The second criterion of trustworthiness is transferability. Transferability involves the ability to take the results of one study and apply them to other studies (Cope, 2014). Transferability occurs when the researcher provides a detailed description of the study, including its participants and location (Connelly, 2016). Even though the researcher conducted this study in North Carolina, barriers to reporting educator sexual misconduct represent a nationwide issue. Therefore, this study may serve as a blueprint for future research on this topic.

Dependability occurs when a future researcher can repeat the study and produce the same results (Shenton, 2004). The researcher enhanced the current study's dependability by reporting the steps in detail. Another way to enhance dependability is by keeping a reflective journal. My reflective journal showed the research progress, including changes made along the way (see Ortlipp, 2008).

The final criterion for establishing trustworthiness is confirmability. To demonstrate confirmability, the researcher must show the data represent the participants' views and not the researcher's biases (Cope, 2014). An audit trail of analysis (i.e., a researcher's record keeping) offers one method of showing confirmability. To show a physical audit trail, the researcher in this study took notes of the methodology decisions made during the research (see Carcary, 2009). A strategy to confirm trustworthiness involved allowing the researcher's peers from a doctoral-level course at Walden University to conduct an external audit and provide feedback. The researcher asked these peers to sign a confidentiality agreement before allowing them to conduct the audit.

Ethical Procedures

Researchers must follow four ethical guidelines when conducting research: reduce any potential for harm, maintain confidentiality, avoid deceptive practices, and provide an opportunity for participants to withdraw from the study at any time (Laerd Dissertation, 2012). The researcher in this study obtained IRB approval from Walden's IRB before collecting data and sought approval from the school district's IRB in North Carolina. Once approved, the researcher began the interviews. Participants received no

compensation for taking part in the study. The researcher did not select participants based on personal relationships to prevent any suspicion of influencing research data or results.

Each participant received an informed consent form detailing their rights as participants and ensuring confidentiality. Participants signed the consent form before beginning the interviews. The researcher reminded participants that they could end the interview at any time without penalty. To ensure confidentiality, the researcher excluded the names of the participants in the study and assigned each a pseudonym (e.g., P1, P2, P3). The researcher stored all information regarding the study on a password-protected laptop computer, and no one else had access to the computer. Data from the study will be kept for 5 years, after which the researcher will properly dispose of it.

Summary

This chapter outlined the research method used to answer the research questions. The researcher provided details of the researcher's role, the study procedure, participants, instrumentations, data collection, and data analysis. Chapter 3 also addressed trustworthiness and ethical procedures. The next chapter presents the findings of this study.

Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this phenomenological exploratory study was to investigate U.S. K–12 educators' perspectives related to the underreporting of educator sexual misconduct. To collect data for this study, the researcher interviewed eight educators employed at a U.S. K–12 school. The following research questions guided this study:

- RQ1: What are the experiences of U.S. K–12 educators regarding barriers to reporting educator sexual misconduct?
- RQ2: What are the experiences of U.S. K–12 educators regarding potential ways to overcome barriers to reporting educator sexual misconduct?

This chapter presents information about the setting, demographics, data collection, data analysis, evidence of trustworthiness, and study results.

Setting

According to the participant recruitment process outlined in Chapter 3, the researcher anticipated recruiting participants via emails sent to random educators from public school websites or through posts made on social media. Participants responded to the social media post rather than emails sent to school emails. Eight individuals responded to the recruitment post on Facebook. The eight potential participants identified themselves as K–12 educators in one of the two largest school districts in North Carolina and consented to participate in the study by sending a confirmation reply from their school's email account. The researcher scheduled each participant's interview at a time and date of the participant's choice.

Data collection occurred during the COVID-19 pandemic. The pandemic led students and scholars to find new ways to conduct research (Opoku et al., 2022). The researcher in this study collected data using semistructured interviews with questions informed by a comprehensive literature review. Participants had the option to engage in the interview via the Zoom video conferencing platform or face-to-face. All chose to participate via Zoom, which complied with COVID-19 restrictions. All participants appeared to be genuine in their responses to the interview questions.

Demographics

The participants consisted of eight currently practicing K–12 educators. At the time of the study, all participants worked in two of the largest school districts in North Carolina. To ensure confidentiality and to protect the participants' identities, the researcher did not include personal demographic or specific school information about the educators in the written report. The participants consisted of six women and two men. The educators' teaching experience ranged from 6 to 17 years of service.

Data Collection

The researcher began the data collection process on March 29, 2021, after receiving the Walden University IRB approval. She used a purposive sampling approach to recruit participants to interview for this study. Initial contact with the participants began with emails to K–12 educators listed on public school websites in two of the largest school districts in North Carolina and a flyer posted on Facebook. Eight potential educators contacted the researcher after viewing the Facebook post. The researcher selected the eight educators after confirming that each individual met the criteria to

participate in the study. Before scheduling the interviews, the researcher emailed the consent form to the participants. Once they responded with "I consent," the researcher scheduled the interviews on a date and time of each participant's choosing.

Participants had the option to be interviewed face-to-face or via Zoom. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, all participants chose to be interviewed via Zoom. Prior to the interview, the researcher assigned each participant an anonymous identifier consisting of the letter "P" and a single-digit number representing the participant's number in the chronological interview sequence (i.e., P1, P8). The researcher omitted all personally identifying information from the study, including the participants' places of employment.

Once the interviews began, the researcher reminded the participants that if they felt uncomfortable at any point during the interview, they could stop. The researcher asked 10 open-ended questions during the interview. These questions helped the researcher analyze the participants' perspectives regarding the underreporting of educator sexual misconduct. The interviews ranged from 15 min to 1 hr.

The researcher stored each interview on a password-protected Zoom cloud recording. The researcher personally transcribed the interviews and then emailed the transcripts to each participant so they could check them for accuracy and make any additions or changes.

Data Analysis

The data collected for analysis included transcripts from semistructured interviews with eight K–12 educators. The researcher also took notes focused on identifying terms and ideas stated multiple times during the interviews. The researcher

analyzed the interviews using a multistep process. The first steps of data analysis involved organizing and becoming familiar with the data (see Taylor-Powell & Renner, 2003). After organizing and becoming familiar with the data, the researcher transcribed each of the eight interviews. After transcribing each interview, the researcher conducted a member check in which participants received a copy of the transcribed interview to review for accuracy. Participants also had the option to check if they wanted to add or change anything. The participants did not have anything to add or change. After the member check, the researcher began the coding process to identify similar themes and ideas (Jacelon & O'Dell, 2005). The researcher initially coded transcripts by hand, looking for themes and subthemes. Then the transcripts were uploaded into NVivo to identify additional themes and subthemes.

Evidence of Trustworthiness

Credibility

Korstjens and Moser (2018) equated credibility with internal validity. In this study, the researcher established credibility using member checks that involved returning transcribed interviews to participants and asking them to check for accuracy and determine whether they wanted to add, change, or remove anything from the interview. No participants requested any changes. Each participant appeared knowledgeable about their role as a mandatory reporter. These steps enhanced the study's credibility.

Transferability

Transferability refers to whether the researcher has provided descriptions of the participants and the research process adequate enough for other researchers to use in

different contexts (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). In this study, the researcher interviewed educators from two of the largest school districts in North Carolina. This method could be useful for additional studies regarding the underreporting of educator sexual misconduct in U.S. K–12 schools.

Dependability

Dependability refers to the study's consistency and reliability. Researchers can ensure dependability by providing an audit trail (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). The researcher in this study demonstrated dependability through recorded interviews, transcribed interviews, and member checks. The researcher also conducted the data analysis using the software program called to assist in identifying additional themes and subthemes.

Confirmability

Confirmability refers to the quality of the results (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). Audit trails and reflexivity provide useful ways of establishing confirmability. Korstjens and Moser (2018) described reflexivity as a reflection of the researcher's thoughts, judgments, and practices during the research process and how they may have influenced the research. Reflexivity occurred in this study when the researcher worked to recognize and remove any biases regarding underreporting of educator sexual misconduct in K–12 schools. The researcher also used the participants' experiences to reflect on their role as a mandatory reporter. The researcher approached this study with an objective lens, using an interview guide to remain neutral.

Results

The researcher collected data from eight K–12 educators who worked in the two largest school districts in North Carolina. The researcher conducted and recorded all interviews via Zoom video conferencing. The data analysis highlighted the following terms as frequently used during the interview: obligations, professionalism, aiding and abetting, bystander effect, reputation, trust, protection, and training. Table 1 presents descriptions of the five themes and four subthemes related to RQ1 that emerged during data analysis. Table 2 presents the three themes related to RQ2 that emerged during the analysis.

Table 1Study Themes and Descriptions Relating to RQ1 Regarding Barriers to Reporting Educator Sexual Misconduct in K–12 Schools

Theme	Description
Theme 1: Problematic training	Participants identified how problematic training presents a barrier to reporting incidents of educator sexual misconduct.
Subtheme 1: Ambiguous definitions of inappropriate teacher behavior	Participants cited the ambiguous definition of inappropriate teacher behaviors as one of the reasons for problematic training.
Subtheme 2: Measuring or assessing training effectiveness / Knowledge	All participants acknowledged that no follow-up assessments occurred after the mandatory reporting and sexual harassment training to test educator knowledge.
Subtheme 3: Lack of mandatory reporter / Sexual harassment training	Two participants acknowledged they did not receive any mandatory reporter or sexual harassment training.
Theme 2: Inconsistent training across schools	Inconsistent training across schools presented a barrier to reporting.
Theme 3: Lack of rapport with supervisors	Educators fearing their lack of relationship with their supervisor would prevent them from barrier.
Theme 4: Fear of repercussions for reporting	Educators fearing repercussions from coworkers or administrators presented a barrier to reporting.
Subtheme: Fear of losing the trust of a student as a result of reporting	In addition to Participants 1 and 3 discussing the fear of repercussions educators face after reporting a suspected incident of educator sexual misconduct, they also discussed the fear of losing their students' trust.
Theme 5: Lack of accountability and consequences for educators who do not report	School systems have a responsibility to enforce mandatory reporting laws.

Table 2Study Themes and Descriptions Relating to RQ2 Regarding Overcoming Barriers to Reporting Educator Sexual Misconduct in K–12 Schools

Theme	Description
Theme 1: Improved Title 9 training	Improved Title 9 trainings could help overcome barriers to reporting educator sexual misconduct.
Theme 2: Professional conduct	Educators conducting themselves in a professional manner could help educators overcome fear of repercussions for reporting incidents of educator sexual misconduct.
Theme 3: Being held accountable for not reporting	Holding educators who do not report incidents of educator sexual misconduct accountable for their actions could motivate educators to overcome other barriers.

RQ1: Barriers to Reporting Incidents of Educator Sexual Misconduct

The first research question addressed the lived experiences of educators regarding barriers to reporting incidents of educator sexual misconduct. The themes that emerged related to RQ1 included the following: problematic training, inconsistent training across schools, lack of rapport with supervisor, fear of repercussions for reporting, and lack of accountability and consequences for not reporting. Participants described how these themes presented barriers to reporting incidents of educator sexual misconduct.

Theme 1: Problematic Training

Participants in the current study identified how problematic training presented a barrier to reporting incidents of educator sexual misconduct. P8 stated: "Once a year, schools are to provide mandatory sexual harassment training to educators in K–12

schools. However, the trainings are not always adequate enough to equip educators with the knowledge to report incidents of educator sexual misconduct." P2 stated: "After this past training, I was left with more questions regarding educator sexual misconduct." Other ways in which participants deemed the training problematic included ambiguous definitions of inappropriate teacher behavior, measuring or assessing training effectiveness and knowledge, and a lack of mandatory reporting.

Subtheme 1: Ambiguous Definitions of Inappropriate Teacher Behavior.

Ambiguous definitions of inappropriate teacher behaviors led respondents to describe training as problematic. Two participants discussed how they had additional questions after attending mandatory reporting training regarding what constituted inappropriate teacher behaviors. For instance, P2 shared: "I wanted more. There was an unclear definition of what inappropriate teacher behaviors. Specifically, I wanted to know more about flirting." P2 wanted further details distinguishing flirting from being friendly toward a student. She also shared concerns that the lack of clarity could be problematic for younger teachers who might not be able to adhere to boundaries or have a clear definition of educator sexual misconduct. She stated:

because what scares me is you have these new young teachers, and they're coming up and the young teachers look like the kids and is super scary that they can get actually wrapped up in or caught up in and not realize, okay, what you're doing here. Can lead to something worse if you don't realize that what you're doing is flirting, is what I'm saying. But you have but the generation is coming

through now, this young generation. And they look like the kids, and they want to be like the kids. So, the kids relate to them. And then you have that fine line.

P4 expressed a similar concern from the perspective of both an educator and a coach. He stated: "I am not only a coach as well. I like to hug and high-five my students. And I'm afraid it could be interpreted as inappropriate behavior according to the definition." Both participants expressed concern that the lack of clarity could be problematic for teachers who might not understand the boundaries between what constitutes friendliness and what crosses a line.

Five out of the eight participants did not expand on why these issues were problematic. However, P5 focused on how her training experiences differed among the schools where she had worked, adding that she had a different training experience at every school where she had worked. Although P5 did not expand on these differences, she noted: "and so at the beginning of the year, I have had different experiences, though, with each school handling those mandated reporting training a little bit differently." However, P4 discussed how even across different departments in his school, he encountered confusing laws regarding to whom, when, and how to report.

Subtheme 2: Measuring or Assessing Training Effectiveness and Knowledge. Another way the participants deemed the training problematic involved the lack of a way to measure training effectiveness. All participants acknowledged that after the mandatory reporting and sexual harassment training, no follow-up assessments occurred to test the educators' knowledge. P8 shared that her county delivered the mandatory reporting and sexual harassment training in an online format. She also stated: "the problem is in not

knowing how educators perceive the training or if the educators skip through the training because they are in an online format." P8 worried educators may misinterpret the context of the training, not pay attention, or skip through the slides.

Subtheme 3: Lack of Mandatory Sexual Harassment Training. All participants understood the Title 9 guideline that they must receive mandatory reporting and sexual harassment training each year. However, out of the eight participants, two shared they did not receive any mandatory reporting and sexual harassment training. Both expressed concern about not being up-to-date on the latest changes to Title 9 reporting practices. P1 stated: "we had training before, through the county, but it has not been provided at my current school." P7 added:

That's not something that's really talked about, not even at staff meetings at the beginning of the school year. It's kind of like you just supposed to know better. It's not even in our handbook. There was no training on that.

Theme 2: Inconsistent Training Among Schools

P5 focused on the lack of training continuity among schools, noting all of the schools where she had worked provided different training experiences. Although P5 did not expand upon these differences, she noted: "And so at the beginning of the year, I have had different experiences, though, with each school handling those mandated reporting training a little bit differently." However, P4 discussed how even across different departments in his school, he encountered confusing laws regarding to whom he should report his suspicions, when to report, and how to report. North Carolina state law requires

mandatory reporters to report incidents of educator sexual misconduct to the local police, but P4 appeared unaware of this.

Theme 3: Lack of Rapport With Supervisor

Three of the participants expressed how the lack of rapport with their supervisor presented a barrier to reporting incidents of educator sexual misconduct. P2 stated: "I am not sure if I would be comfortable reporting an incident to a male principal. I would feel more comfortable if it was a female." P1 also explained she and other educators would feel more comfortable reporting to a female than a male principal. P2 agreed that the supervisor's gender contributed to their comfort level with reporting incidents of educator sexual misconduct but added the educator's rapport with the supervisor also played a role. P4 stated: "I know I should report to my supervisor or dean, but what if I don't know them or built a relationship with him or her?"

Theme 4: Fear of Repercussions for Reporting

All of the participants explained that fear of repercussions for reporting presented a barrier to reporting incidents of educator sexual misconduct. Participants feared the possibility of being held civilly or legally responsible, especially if the accusations were found to be untrue. Participants also stated educators feared retaliation from their coworkers or administrators. They worried others would call them names or they would lose the trust of their colleagues or students. Ps 3 and 5 both expressed concern about educators being labeled as "snitches" for reporting. P1 replied: "Educators do not want to be viewed as the tattle tale." P7 stated:

fear of retaliation. Seems to be a very common thing, and I believe that I have fear of retaliation; for example, telling on a colleague who's been there for a while and well-liked, other colleagues might cause retaliation as a result of protecting their friend or taking their friend's side.

The single subtheme of fear of losing the trust of a student as a result of reporting emerged under Theme 4. In addition to fearing repercussions for reporting, Ps 1 and 3 also worried about losing the trust of their students. P1 stated:

They're afraid of losing the trust of their student. The educator feels that if they tell, the student might not come to them again and share something as important with them, like that student somehow feels like they are going to get in trouble.

Theme 5: Lack of Accountability and Consequences for Educators Who Do Not Report

School systems have a responsibility to enforce mandatory reporting laws.

However, some of the participants stated the lack of accountability and consequences for educators who do not report presented a barrier to reporting educator sexual misconduct.

All eight participants acknowledged their legal obligation to report any suspected incidents of educator sexual misconduct. These educators had a sense of what should happen legally to educators who do not report; however, six of them explained that a gap existed between what the law required and what actually occurred. P8 stated: "Not being held responsible or not having any consequences for not reporting allows the cycle to continue, and it implies it is okay for other educators to not report."

P5 explained there were "no specific consequences for not reporting. Besides, how would an administrator know if a teacher has not reported an incident of educator

sexual misconduct." P1 replied: "No one really knows what happens to those who do not report, but we know it is the law to report."

RQ2: Overcoming Barriers to Reporting

The second research question related to various ways to overcome barriers to reporting educator sexual misconduct: The themes related to RQ2 included the following: improved Title 9 training, self-awareness of one's role as a mandatory reporter, and accountability. Participants discussed what they needed from mandatory reporting training, their role as mandatory reporters, and how they should remain professional at all times and be held accountable for their actions.

Theme 1: Improved Title 9 Training

In addressing ways to overcome the barrier of problematic training, participants consistently stated that improved Title 9 training would help. Participants claimed training could be improved in a variety of ways. They called for providing trainees with clear definitions of educator sexual misconduct. Additionally, they wanted to see real-world examples that would boost their confidence in their ability to identify educator sexual misconduct and increase their comfort with reporting. They also expressed a desire for real-world scenarios that would help them distinguish between educator sexual misconduct and sexual harassment in general. P1 stated:

I appreciated when a training I attended provided examples of potential red flags of abuse or educator misconduct to look for in students. It was a simple journal entry, and we had to evaluate this journal entry. And she asked us, do we see any red flags come to mind? We don't know who this woman is, why she's presenting

to us this. Do we see any red flags within it? And, we looked for things like some verbiage that would catch our attention.

In addition, participants mentioned that more thorough training would represent an improvement. Thorough trainings would include very specific and clear definitions of educator sexual misconduct. P2 stated: "The trainings I attended focused on bullying and student-on-student sexual harassment or student-family-related sexual harassment. I want more training in regards to teacher–student sexual harassment." P5 replied: "I want sexual harassment training more catered to educators in K–12 school."

Theme 2: Professional Conduct

Participants stated that conducting themselves in a professional manner in their role as an educator could help them overcome their fear of repercussions for reporting incidents of educator sexual misconduct. All eight participants discussed how their role as a mandatory reporter required them to ensure student safety and conduct themselves in a professional manner. Ps 1 and 6 described professionalism as the responsibility to build rapport with students, parents, and other educators. They also described professionalism as dressing and behaving in an ethical manner. P6 stated: "To overcome the barriers overall in general. Well, keep on being professional, keeping your relationships like your friendships, off campus." P4 stated:

You have to put it to the side. I mean, at the end of the day, you have to think about what's right, and you just have to report. I mean, right is right. Wrong is wrong. So at the end of the day, you have to be able to put that aside.

Theme 3: Being Held Accountable for Not Reporting

The third theme to emerge when discussing how to overcome barriers to reporting involved holding educators who do not report incidents of educator sexual misconduct accountable for their lack of action. All eight participants acknowledged that educators should be held responsible for not keeping students safe. Ps 4 and 7 stated: "Educators who do not report should be charged with aiding and abetting." Ps 5 and 6 asserted that the educator should lose their job. Pt 8 stated: "If other educators see other educators being held accountable for not reporting, they will be more willing to report."

Summary

Eight themes emerged from this study. For RQ1, the primary themes included problematic training, inconsistent training among schools, lack of rapport with supervisor, fear of repercussions for reporting, and lack of accountability and consequences for educators who do not report. The themes relating to RQ2 included improved Title 9 training, professional conduct, and being held accountable for not reporting. Chapter 5 presents the study's findings, conclusions, recommendations, and areas of future research are discussed.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The purpose of this phenomenological exploratory study was to investigate U.S. K–12 educators' perspectives related to the underreporting of educator sexual misconduct. Even though previous researchers mentioned underreporting as a problem that needs to be addressed (Fromuth et al., 2016; Grant & Heinecke, 2019), researchers had not made it the main focus of their agendas. The researcher in the current study collected data using semistructured interviews conducted over Zoom to comply with COVID-19 restrictions. The following research questions guided this study:

- RQ1: What are the experiences of U.S. K–12 educators regarding barriers to reporting educator sexual misconduct?
- RQ2: What are the experiences of U.S. K–12 educators regarding potential ways to overcome barriers to reporting educator sexual misconduct?

The findings revealed the need for improved and ongoing mandatory reporting and sexual harassment training.

Interpretation of the Findings

Barriers to Reporting Educator Sexual Misconduct

The first research question in this study focused on the lived experiences of K–12 educators regarding barriers to reporting educator sexual misconduct. The organization of the findings corresponds to the themes that emerged from the interviews. These themes included problematic training, inconsistent training across schools, lack of rapport with supervisor, fear of repercussions for reporting, and lack of accountability and consequences for educators who do not report. Emergent subthemes included the

following: ambiguous definitions of inappropriate teacher behaviors, measuring or assessing training effectiveness and knowledge, lack of mandatory reporter and sexual harassment training, and fear of losing the trust of a student.

Theme 1: Problematic Training

Participants expressed a desire for more language clarifying what constitutes inappropriate behaviors. Some participants understood the definition of appropriate behavior involved no touch at all. One of the participants discussed how some educators might not recognize that hugging a student to congratulate them could be considered inappropriate. This finding aligns with the findings of Grant et al. (2017). The participants in the Grant et al. study described the sexual harassment policies as being "vague" or "too general." This resembles concerns asserted by Ps 3 and 4, who worried the training they received that did not clearly define or provide specific examples of inappropriate teacher behavior.

In addition to ambiguous definitions of inappropriate teacher behaviors, participants stated the lack of mandatory reporting and sexual harassment training presented a barrier to reporting incidents of educator sexual misconduct. Wurtele et al. (2019) explained some school districts are not required to offer sexual misconduct awareness and prevention training. Prevention and awareness training helps educators recognize and report suspected incidents of educator sexual misconduct (Lipson et al., 2019). This may help explain why P5 did not know how or to whom to report incidents of educator sexual misconduct.

Previous researchers have cited a lack of research regarding training efficacy. P8 detailed how the educators in her school district received online training for mandatory reporting and sexual harassment; however, she explained that no one followed up after the training to assess its efficacy. Follow-up would help to determine whether the educators understood the material or whether they had any questions regarding the training. Lipson et al. (2018) found a barrier in ways to measure the effectiveness of the training provided in their study. Lipson et al. also recommended including a voluntary posttraining questionnaire after each training.

Theme 2: Inconsistent Training Across Schools

Previous researchers have cited inconsistent training across schools as a barrier to reporting educator sexual misconduct. Title 9 requires mandatory reporting and sexual harassment training in federally funded institutions; however, the implementation of these guidelines has been inconsistent (Grant et al., 2019). According to Abboud et al. (2020), some states have not implemented sexual misconduct training, and school systems have depended on a general understanding of sexual misconduct statutes. These findings support the perceptions of inconsistent training stated by the participants in the present study. P5 shared that they received different training in all of the schools where she worked.

In addition to the presence of different training across school systems, policy implementation also differed. Title 9 not only requires mandatory reporting and sexual harassment training, but it also holds schools responsible for making sure educators and school employees know who serves as the Title 9 coordinator at their institution and

understands all policy changes. Some of the participants in the Grant et al. (2017) study reported not knowing either of these things. Participants in the current study expressed a similar dilemma. They did not know who served as their Title 9 coordinator and were unaware of relevant policy changes. In addition, some did not know to whom they should report incidents of educator sexual misconduct. Inconsistencies in training and policy implementation create barriers to recognizing and reporting educator sexual misconduct.

Theme 3: Lack of Rapport With Supervisor

Participants in the current study described lack of comfort with their supervisor as a barrier to reporting incidents of educator sexual misconduct. Participants defined comfort as having rapport and trusting their supervisor to investigate the reported incident. P2 shared that she did not trust her supervisor to follow through with investigating or reporting to the proper agencies. Participants in the Grant et al. (2017) study stated school administrators should create an atmosphere in which educators feel safe to report any suspicions.

Limited research existed on the lack of comfort with a supervisor as a barrier to reporting incidents of educator sexual misconduct. Grant et al. (2017) reported that relationships between educators and administrators depend on the size of the school district. The literature also showed a lack of comfort exists between school administrators and child welfare and law enforcement agencies. Despite participants in the current study not expressing concerns about school size or the relationship between school administrators and outside agencies, participants in both the Grant et al. study and the

present study thought it was important for school administrators to encourage and support educators who suspect misconduct between another teacher and student.

Theme 4: Fear of Repercussions for Reporting

Reports of educator sexual misconduct can have long-lasting repercussions. Students can become depressed, turn to drugs and alcohol, drop out of school, or have suicidal ideations. Participants in the current study stated the repercussions of reporting suspected incidents of educator sexual misconduct could include losing their colleague's trust, losing their job, or being seen in a negative light. This perspective reflects the literature findings. Wurtele et al. (2018) reported that students and their families could face emotional distress or financial burdens. Participants in the current study and the Grant et al. (2017) study both reported fearing they or their school district would be subject to stigma and tarnished reputations if they reported incidents of educator sexual misconduct.

Participants in the present study not only feared the repercussions of reporting from the public and their colleagues, but they also feared losing the trust of their students. P1 stated: "I am afraid that if I report something a student has told me in confidence, I will no longer have the trust of the student." Lipson et al. (2018) explained educators serve as in loco parentis, meaning they act in parental roles, provide emotional support, and also educate students. This perspective aligns with that of the present study that proximity to students helps build trust; once that trust is broken, it affects not only the students and their families but the educators, administrators, and community. These are some of the reasons educators feared reporting incidents of educator sexual misconduct.

Theme 5: Lack of Accountability and Consequences for Educators Who Do Not Report

Limited research existed on the lack of accountability and consequences for educators who do not report. Studies conducted by Grant et al. (2017), Wurtele et al. (2018), and Lipson et al. (2018) mentioned legal consequences but did not elaborate on the subject. This finding aligns with the present study in which participants acknowledged legal ramifications but were unaware of anyone being punished for not reporting any incidents of educator sexual misconduct. Participants in the current study and in the Grant et al. (2017) study stated the lack of accountability and consequences for educators who do not report presents a barrier for educators to report. Ps 5 and 6 expressed concern that educators who saw colleagues face no consequences for not reporting would also not report incidents of educator sexual misconduct.

Overcoming Barriers to Reporting Educator Sexual Misconduct

The second research question in this study focused on K–12 educators' perspectives on overcoming barriers to reporting incidents of educator sexual misconduct. Participants discussed improving Title 9 training, conducting themselves professionally, and being held accountable for not reporting.

Theme 1: Improved Title 9 Training

The participants in this study believed improved Title 9 training would provide one way to overcome barriers to reporting educator sexual misconduct. A part of Title 9 training includes school districts implementing mandatory reporting and sexual harassment training (Wurtele et al., 2018). Participants in the current study stated improved trainings would include real-world scenarios and provide clear definitions of

educator sexual misconduct. Similarly, participants from the Grant et al. (2017) study expressed that training should not only consist of real-world scenarios but should also be offered annually.

In addition to the provision of clear definitions and specific scenarios, two participants in the present study expressed concern for younger teachers who, by virtue of their inexperience, might need additional training to clarify boundaries, especially when they are close in age to their students. Similarly, Grant et al. (2017) reported how inexperienced educators may have a difficult time creating boundaries with their students. P8 also shared a similar concern, especially for younger educators who are closer in age to their students.

Participants offered mixed responses regarding whether face-to-face or online training offered ways to overcome barriers to reporting incidents of educator sexual misconduct. P8 revealed that mandatory reporting and sexual harassment training was offered online. She stated teachers could complete the training at their convenience. This finding resembled those in the Grant et al. (2017) study, where participants stated that although convenient, online training did not capture their interest, and it enabled them to easily pass through the modules and pass the quizzes (Grant et al., 2017). Ps 1 and 6 from the current study stated face-to-face training needed improvement but was still more effective than online training. Current findings align with existing research calling for training that includes real-world scenarios (Ayling et al., 2020; Grant et al., 2017) and clear definitions of sexual misconduct (Wurtele et al., 2019).

Theme 2: Professional Conduct

Participants also pointed to professional conduct as another means of overcoming barriers to reporting educator sexual misconduct. Participants stated educators may be reluctant to report their colleagues because they do not want to lose their trust or friendship or report something that is not true. P5 stated friendships should remain outside of school, and educators should show professionalism at all times. This statement resembles those provided by the participants in the Grant et al. (2017) study, who stated educators should be held to the highest professional standard. Additionally, participants from previous studies suggested educators could benefit from professional or ethics policies (Grant et al., 2017).

Theme 3: Being Held Accountable for Not Reporting

Despite mandatory reporting laws, some incidents of educator sexual misconduct go unreported. Holding educators who do not report incidents of educator sexual misconduct accountable could help educators overcome barriers to reporting. One way of holding educators accountable is by reporting any suspected incidents. Both participants from the current study and from previous studies reported that if educators see something, they should report it.

A second way to hold educators accountable for not reporting involves punishing the educator. Participants from the current study and from the Grant et al. (2017) study suggested educators could be punished for not reporting, but they recalled no accounts of individuals who received punishment for not reporting. This finding was supported by the

lack of research available on educators being held accountable for not reporting and a lack of documented punishment for those who did not report.

Limitations of the Study

This study provided in-depth insights into U.S. K–12 educators' perceptions of barriers to reporting educator sexual misconduct and ways to overcome those barriers. Because the study focused on K–12 educators' perceptions, the researcher took their responses at face value even though the truthfulness of their statements could not be confirmed. The researcher approached each interview with the assumption that all participants would answer the interview questions honestly and truthfully.

Second, the choice to take a qualitative approach resulted in a small sample size of eight participants, which represented the number needed to reach data saturation. Saturation refers to the condition where no new themes or codes emerge during data collection and analysis (Saunders et al., 2018). The small sample size used in the current study limits the transferability of findings to other populations.

Third, the researcher recruited participants from two of the largest school districts in North Carolina. The study may have attracted a more diverse sample of educators if the participants had been recruited from all school districts in North Carolina. Lastly, the researcher only recruited K–12 educators for this study. Recruiting school administrators, school resource officers, guidance counselors, and other school employees would have provided a different perspective regarding barriers to reporting educator sexual misconduct and how to overcome those barriers.

Recommendations

This study was conducted to explore the perceptions of U.S. K–12 educators on the topic of underreporting educator sexual misconduct. Previous studies provided some insight on the subject; however, these researchers had not focused primarily on K–12 educators' perceptions. First, the researcher in this current study recommends expanding the participant pool. This study included K–12 educators from two of the largest school districts in North Carolina. Future researchers should expand the participant pool to include all of the school districts in North Carolina. It would be beneficial to explore how educators from other school districts perceive barriers to reporting and how to overcome those barriers to reporting incidents of educator sexual misconduct.

Secondly, future researchers should expand the participant pool to guidance counselors, resource officers, and other school employees (e.g., custodians, bus drivers, cafeteria workers, or coaches). Like educators, these individuals spend a large amount of time around individuals, so they can provide insight on educator sexual misconduct, if they received mandatory reporting and sexual harassment training, and their understanding of reporting practices. Guidance counselors can provide insight into mandatory reporting training, and resource officers can help to build a partnership between the school and law enforcement agencies.

Thirdly, the resulting data exposes a need for additional information on training practices. In one of the themes of the present study, participants deemed mandatory reporting and sexual harassment training as problematic. Some participants stated their training lacked real-world examples of inappropriate behaviors, and some identified a

need for clear definitions of educator sexual misconduct. Some participants stated they received no training at all. Future researchers could explore how and if school districts administer mandatory reporting and sexual harassment training. Future researchers could also compare the efficacy of face-to-face and online training and explore how to measure effectiveness.

Lastly, educators understand they have a legal responsibility to report any suspected incidents of educator sexual misconduct. However, the consequences or punishment for not reporting remains unclear. A beneficial research direction could involve exploring how and if educators and administrators are punished for not reporting. Future studies would also include measures to determine if someone should be punished for not reporting and what the appropriate punishment should be for those individuals.

Implications

Even though the number of reported incidents of educator sexual misconduct has increased, researchers have suggested present numbers do not include the total number of cases (Henschel & Grant, 2018). Hernandez et al. (2020) claimed that some incidents of educator sexual misconduct go unreported. Finding ways to decrease the barriers to reporting represents a vital action for social change. Understanding barriers to reporting from the perspective of K–12 educators would provide crucial insight because these individuals are legally responsible for keeping students safe from harm (Wurtele et al., 2019).

During this research study, participants offered their perceptions of barriers to reporting incidents of educator sexual misconduct and methods in which to overcome

those barriers. These insights shed light on needed policy changes, specifically on improved mandatory reporting and sexual harassment training implementation. Training should provide educators with the skills and knowledge needed to recognize and report any incidents of educator sexual misconduct (Ayling et al., 2020).

Educators and school employees should receive yearly training that includes follow-up questions designed to ensure the educators and school employees understand the material. Improved and consistent training practices have the potential to decrease the number of unreported incidents of educator sexual misconduct and, ultimately, the number of incidents of educator sexual misconduct. The overall goal is to keep students safe from all harm.

Conclusion

This study was an exploratory phenomenological study of the perceptions of K–12 educators regarding barriers to reporting educator sexual misconduct and how to overcome those barriers. Eight K–12 educators with a minimum of 2 years of teaching experience participated in this study. The educators worked in two of the largest school districts in North Carolina.

Even though the educators all had different experiences and opinions, they offered similar perceptions regarding barriers to reporting educator sexual misconduct in K–12 schools. The main themes that emerged from this study included problematic training, inconsistent training across schools, lack of rapport with supervisor, fear of repercussions for reporting, and lack of accountability and consequences for educators who do not report. The educators also suggested ways to overcome those barriers. The themes that

emerged for overcoming barriers to reporting included improved Title 9 training, professional conduct, and being held accountable for not reporting.

These findings may generate additional research that includes a larger demographic of educators and school employees who can provide their experiences with the phenomenon of reporting educator sexual misconduct. Results from this research study can be used to improve mandatory reporting and sexual harassment training in K–12 schools. The social change that could result from this study relates to protecting students from the harm imposed by educator sexual misconduct.

References

- Abboud, M. J., Wu, G., Pedneault, A., Stohr, M. K., & Hemmens, C. (2020). Educator sexual misconduct: A statutory analysis. *Criminal Justice Policy Review*, *31*(1). https://doi.org/10.1177/0887403418806564
- Adams, W. C. (2015). Conducting Semi-Structured Interviews. In Handbook of Practical Program Evaluation (pp. 492–505). John Wiley & Sons, Inc. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/9781119171386.ch19
- Assini-Meytin, L. C., Fix, R. L., & Letourneau, E. J. (2020). Child Sexual Abuse: The Need for a Perpetration Prevention Focus. Journal of Child Sexual Abuse, 1, 22–40. https://doi.org/10.1080/10538712.2019.1703232
- Ayling, N. J., Walsh, K., & Williams, K. E. (2020). Factors influencing early childhood education and care educators' reporting of child abuse and neglect. *Australasian Journal of Early Childhood*, 45(1), 95–108.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1836939119885307
- Bazon, M. R., & Faleiros, J. M. (2013). Identifying and reporting child maltreatment in the education sector. *Paideia*, 23(54). https://doi.org/10.1590/1982-43272354201307
- Bigras, N., Godbout, N., & Briere, J. (2015). Child Sexual Abuse, Sexual Anxiety, and Sexual Satisfaction: The Role of Self-Capacities. Journal of Child Sexual Abuse, 5, 464–483. https://doi.org/10.1080/10538712.2015.1042184

- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13). https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870
- Brenner, I., & Ben-Amitay, G. (2015). Sexual Revictimization: The Impact of
 Attachment Anxiety, Accumulated Trauma, and Response to Childhood Sexual
 Abuse Disclosure. Violence and Victims, 1, 49–65. https://doi.org/10.1891/0886-6708.vv-d-13-00098
- Briere, J. N., & Elliott, D. M. (1994). Immediate and Long-Term Impacts of Child Sexual Abuse. The Future of Children, 2, 54. https://doi.org/10.2307/1602523
- Broadway, N., & Marcotte, M. (2014, April 29). Title IX and Sexual Violence in K-12 Schools. North Carolina Coalition Against Sexual Assault. https://nccasa.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/TitleIXResourcesforCommunityPartners.pdf
- Brown, S., & Mangan, K. (2018, November 16). What You Need to Know About the Proposed Title IX Regulations. The Chronicle of Higher Education.
- Burgess, A. W., Welner, M., & Willis, D. G. (2010). Educator Sexual Abuse: Two Case

 Reports. Journal of Child Sexual Abuse, 4, 387–402.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10538712.2010.495045
- Candela, A. (2019). Exploring the Function of Member Checking. The Qualitative Report. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2019.3726
- Carcary, M. (2009). The research audit trial—Enhancing trustworthiness in qualitative inquiry. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 7(1). https://academic-publishing.org/index.php/ejbrm/article/view/1239

- Carter, N., Bryant-Lukosius, D., Dicenso, A., Blythe, J., & Neville, A. J. (2014). The use of triangulation in qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, *41*(5). https://doi.org/10.1188/14.ONF.545-547
- Chen, L. P., Murad, M. H., Paras, M. L., Colbenson, K. M., Sattler, A. L., Goranson, E. N., Elamin, M. B., Seime, R. J., Shinozaki, G., Prokop, L. J., & Zirakzadeh, A. (2010). Sexual Abuse and Lifetime Diagnosis of Psychiatric Disorders:
 Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Mayo Clinic Proceedings, 7, 618–629.
 https://doi.org/10.4065/mcp.2009.0583
- College, B. P., Herkimer County Community. (n.d.). Chapter 12 Interpretive Research |

 Research Methods for the Social Sciences. Lumen Learning Simple Book

 Production. Retrieved December 1, 2022, from

 https://courses.lumenlearning.com/atd-herkimerresearchmethodsforsocialscience/chapter/chapter-12-interpretive-research/.
- Connelly L. M. (2016). Trustworthiness in Qualitative Research. Medsurg nursing: official journal of the Academy of Medical-Surgical Nurses, 25(6), 435–436.
- Cope, D. G. (2014). Methods and meanings: Credibility and trustworthiness of qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 41(1). https://doi.org/10.1188/14.ONF.89-91
- COVID-19 pandemic: Crisis or opportunity? *Journal of Hospitality, Leisure, Sport & Tourism Education*, 30, 100374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhlste.2022.100374
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative and mixed method approach. SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). Research Design. SAGE.

- Creswell, J. W., & Clark, V. L. P. (2011). Designing and Conducting Mixed Methods Research. SAGE.
- Creswell, J. W., & Plano Clark, V. L. (2011). Choosing a mixed method research design in designing and conducting mixed methods research. SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Dugal, C., Bigras, N., Godbout, N., & Bélanger, C. (2016). Childhood Interpersonal
 Trauma and its Repercussions in Adulthood: An Analysis of Psychological and
 Interpersonal Sequelae. In A Multidimensional Approach to Post-Traumatic
 Stress Disorder from Theory to Practice. InTech.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.5772/64476
- Equal Access to Education: Forty Years of Title IX. (2012, June 23). United States Department of Justice.
 - https://www.justice.gov/sites/default/files/crt/legacy/2012/06/20/titleixreport.pdf
- Falkiner, M., Thomson, D., & Day, A. (2017). Teachers' Understanding and Practice of Mandatory Reporting of Child Maltreatment. Children Australia, 1, 38–48. https://doi.org/10.1017/cha.2016.53
- Fast Facts: Preventing Child Sexual Abuse |Violence Prevention|Injury Center|CDC.

 (2022, April 6). Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

 https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/childsexualabuse/fastfact.html
- Fromuth, M. E., Kelly, D. B., Brallier, C., Williams, M., & Benson, K. (2016). Effects of duration on perceptions of teacher sexual misconduct. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse*, *25*(2). https://doi.org/10.1080/10538712.2016.1122692

- Goebbels, A. F. G., Nicholson, J. M., Walsh, K., & De Vries, H. (2007). Teachers' reporting of suspected child abuse and neglect: behaviour and determinants. Health Education Research, 6, 941–951. https://doi.org/10.1093/her/cyn030
- Golden, O. (2000). The federal response to child abuse and neglect. American Psychologist, 9, 1050–1053. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066x.55.9.1050
- Golomb, Sara; Sears, Katie; Drozd, Rebecca; Kotori, Juna; and Vera-Hughes, Melissa, "Future Mandated Reporters: Understanding the Role" (2017). Education Faculty Publications. 10. https://scholar.valpo.edu/ed_fac_pubs/10
- Grant, B. J., & Heinecke, W. (2019). K–12 school employee sexual abuse and misconduct: An examination of policy effectiveness. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse*, 28(2). https://doi.org/10.1080/10538712.2019.1580328
- Grant, B. J., & Stephanie, B. (2017). IX Policy Implementation. Pediatrics, 111(3), 564-572.
- Grant, B. J., Shakeshaft, C., & Mueller, J. (2019). Prevention of pre-K–12 school employee sexual misconduct and abuse. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse*, 28(2). https://doi.org/10.1080/10538712.2019.1580517
- Grant, B.-J. E., Wilkerson, S. B., Pelton, L. deKoven, Cosby, A. C., & Henschel, M. M. (2019). Title IX and School Employee Sexual Misconduct: How K-12 Schools Respond in the Wake of an Incident. Educational Administration Quarterly, 5, 841–866. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013161x19838030

- Grant, B.-J., & Heinecke, W. (2019). K–12 School Employee Sexual Abuse and Misconduct: An Examination of Policy Effectiveness. Journal of Child Sexual Abuse, 2, 200–221. https://doi.org/10.1080/10538712.2019.1580328
- Grant, B.-J., Shakeshaft, C., & Mueller, J. (2019). Prevention of preK-12 School

 Employee Sexual Misconduct and Abuse. Journal of Child Sexual Abuse, 2, 125–

 128. https://doi.org/10.1080/10538712.2019.1580517
- Hailes, H. P., Yu, R., Danese, A., & Fazel, S. (2019). Long-term outcomes of childhood sexual abuse: an umbrella review. The Lancet Psychiatry, 10, 830–839. https://doi.org/10.1016/s2215-0366(19)30286-x
- Hall, M., & Hall, J. (2011). The long-term effects of childhood sexual abuse: Counseling implications. Retrieved fromhttp://counselingoutfitters.com/vistas/vistas11/Article 19.pdf
- Harrell, M. C., & Bradley, M. (2009). Data Collection Methods. Rand Corporation.
- Henschel, M. M., & Grant, B.-J. (2018). Exposing School Employee Sexual Abuse and Misconduct: Shedding Light on a Sensitive Issue. Journal of Child Sexual Abuse, 1, 26–45. https://doi.org/10.1080/10538712.2018.1483459
- Hernandez, F., McPhetres, J., & Hughes, J. (2020). Using Adolescent Perceptions of Misconduct to Help Educational Leaders Identify and Respond to Sexual Misconduct. Educational Administration Quarterly, 4, 507–535.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0013161x20963719

- Hilal, Aiy., & Al Abri, S. S. (2013). Using Nvivo for Data Analysis in Qualitative Research. International Interdisciplinary Journal of Education, 2, 181–186. https://doi.org/10.12816/0002914
- Horton, J., Macve, R., & Struyven, G. (2004). Qualitative research: Experiences in using semi-structured interviews. In C. Humphrey & B. Lee (Eds.), *The Real-Life Guide to Accounting Research* (pp. 339–357). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-008043972-3/50022-0
- Jacelon, C., & O'dell, K. (2007). Analyzing Qualitative Data. The SAGE Dictionary of Qualitative Inquiry. https://doi.org/10.4135/97814129862681.n7
- Jackson, D., Richards, J., Marx, G., & Perez, J. (2018, June 1). Background checks ignored -- Chicago Tribune. http://graphics.chicagotribune.com/chicago-publicschools-sexual-abuse/gaddy
- Jamshed, S. (2014). Qualitative research method-interviewing and observation. *Journal of Basic and Clinical Pharmacy*, 5(4). https://doi.org/10.4103/0976-0105.141942
- Kaminski, T. W., & Pitney, W. A. (2004). Strategies for Establishing Trustworthiness in Qualitative Research. Athletic Therapy Today, 1, 26–28. https://doi.org/10.1123/att.9.1.26
- Kasten, S., van Osch, L., Candel, M., & de Vries, H. (2019). The influence of premotivational factors on behavior via motivational factors: a test of the I-Change model. BMC Psychology, 1. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40359-019-0283-2
- Keierleber, M. (n.d.). As Chicago Faces Surge in Student Sexual Misconduct Reports,

 Advocates Warn the Problem Isn't Unique to America's 3rd-Largest School

- System The 74. The 74 America's Education News Source. Retrieved

 November 18, 2022, from https://www.the74million.org/article/as-chicago-facessurge-in-student-sexual-misconduct-reports-advocates-warn-the-problem-isntunique-to-americas-3rd-largest-school-system
- Kenny, M. C. (2001). Compliance with Mandated Child Abuse Reporting. Journal of Offender Rehabilitation, 1, 9–23. https://doi.org/10.1300/j076v34n01 02
- Kenny, M. C. (2001). Compliance with mandated child abuse reporting: Comparing physicians and teachers. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, *34*(1). https://doi.org/10.1300/J076v34n01_02
- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part

 4: Trustworthiness and publishing. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1).

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092
- Laerd Dissertation (2012) Purposive Sampling. http://dissertation.laerd.com/purposive-sampling.php
- LeCompte, M. D. (2000). Analyzing qualitative data. *Theory Into Practice*, *39*(3). https://doi.org/10.1207/s15430421tip3903_5
- Lieberwitz, R. L., Jaleel, R., Kelleher, T., Scott, J. W., Young, D., Reichman, H., & Runyan, A. S. (2016). The history, uses, and abuses of Title IX. Academe, 102, 69.
- Lipson, G., Grant, B. J., Mueller, J., & Sonnich, S. (2019). Preventing school employee sexual misconduct: An outcome survey analysis of making right choices. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse*, 28(2). https://doi.org/10.1080/10538712.2018.1477002

- Longhurst, R. (2010). Semi-structured interviews and focus groups. *Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling*, 53(9).https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-008044910-4.00458-2
- Lumen Learning (2020). Research Methods for Social Sciences. Retrieved from https://courses.lumenlearning.com/atd-herkimer-researchmethodsforsocialscience/chapter/chapter-12-interpretive-research/.
- Mandatory Reporters of Child Abuse and Neglect. (2019, April). Child Welfare Information Gateway. https://www.childwelfare.gov/pubpdfs/manda.pdf
- Moon, K., Brewer, T. D., Januchowski-Hartley, S. R., Adams, V. M., & Blackman, D. A. (2016). A guideline to improve qualitative social science publishing in ecology and conservation journals. *Ecology and Society*, 21(3). https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-08663-210317
- Moore, J., & Draper, E. (2020, September 1). Mandatory Reporting of Child Abuse and Neglect. North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services.

 https://wicws.dph.ncdhhs.gov/provpart/docs/8-20-20MRSlidesAPPROVED.pdf
- Morejohn, N. B. (2006). Reporting Child Maltreatment: Challenges Faced by Teachers.

 California: California State University.
- Morse, J. M. (2000). Determining sample size. *Qualitative Health Research*, *10*(1). https://doi.org/10.1177/104973200129118183
- Naderifar, M., Goli, H., & Ghaljaie, F. (2017). Snowball sampling: A purposeful method of sampling in qualitative research. *Strides in Development of Medical Education*, 14(3). https://doi.org/10.5812/sdme.67670

- Nanni, V., Uher, R., & Danese, A. (2012). Childhood Maltreatment Predicts Unfavorable
 Course of Illness and Treatment Outcome in Depression: A Meta-Analysis.
 American Journal of Psychiatry, 2, 141–151.
 https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2011.11020335
- National Child Abuse and Neglect Training and Publications Project (2014). The Child Abuse Prevention and Treatment Act: 40 years of safeguarding America's children. Washington, DC:U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Children's Bureau.
- Nelson, B. J. (1984). Making an issue of child abuse: Political agenda setting for social problems. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- Neubauer, B. E., Witkop, C. T., & Varpio, L. (2019). How phenomenology can help us learn from the experiences of others. *Perspectives on Medical Education*, 8(2). https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-019-0509-2
- Newcomer, J. W., Eriksson, H., Zhang, P., Weiller, E., & Weiss, C. (2018). Changes in metabolic parameters and body weight in brexpiprazole-treated patients with acute schizophrenia: pooled analyses of phase 3 clinical studies. Current Medical Research and Opinion, 12, 2197–2205.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/03007995.2018.1498779
- Opoku, E. K., Chen, L. H., & Permadi, S. Y. (2022). The dissertation journey during the Ortlipp, M. (2008). Keeping and using reflective journals in the qualitative research process. *The Qualitative Report*, 13(4). https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2008.1579

- Ortlipp, M. (2015). Keeping and Using Reflective Journals in the Qualitative Research Process. The Qualitative Report. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2008.1579
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42(5). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Patton, M. Q. (1999). Enhancing the quality and credibility of qualitative analysis. *Health Services Research*, 34(5, Part 2) 1189–1208
- Peters, B. G., & Pierre, J. (2012). The SAGE Handbook of Public Administration (pp. 292–304). SAGE.
- Phenicie, C. (2019, September 12). Chicago Agrees to Reinvestigation of Sexual Abuse Complaints, Other Remedies After Federal Investigation Finds 'Widespread and Systemic' Title IX Violations. The 74.
- Pitney, W. A. (2004). Strategies for establishing trustworthiness in qualitative research.

 *Athletic Therapy Today, 9(1). https://doi.org/10.1123/att.9.1.26
- Polit, D. F., & Beck, C. T. (2013). Essentials of Nursing Research.
- Purposive sampling | Lærd Dissertation. (n.d.). The Online Research Guide for Your

 Dissertation and Thesis | Lærd Dissertation. Retrieved December 1, 2022, from https://dissertation.laerd.com/purposive-sampling.php
- Rapport & Reflection: The Pivotal Role of Note Taking in In-depth Interview Research | Research Design Review. (2017, June 26). Research Design Review;

- https://www.facebook.com/WordPresscom.
- https://researchdesignreview.com/2017/06/26/rapport-reflection-the-pivotal-role-of-note-taking-in-in-depth-interview-research/.
- Ravitch, S. M., & Carl, N. M. (2015a). Qualitative Research. SAGE Publications.
- Ravitch, S. M., & Carl, N. M. (2015b). Qualitative Research. SAGE Publications.
- Roller, M. (2017, June 26). Rapport & Reflection: The Pivotal Role of Note Taking in Indepth Interview Research | Research Design Review. Research Design Review; https://www.facebook.com/WordPresscom. https://researchdesignreview.com/2017/06/26/rapport-reflection-the-pivotal-role-of-note-taking-in-in-depth-interview-research/.
- Saunders, B., Sim, J., Kingstone, T., Baker, S., Waterfield, J., Bartlam, B., ... & Jinks, C. (2018). Saturation in qualitative research: Exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. *Quality & Quantity*, *52*(4), 1893–1907. 10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8
- Schols, M. W. A., De Ruiter, C., & Ory, F. G. (2013). How do public child healthcare professionals and primary school teachers identify and handle child abuse cases?

 A qualitative study. *BMC Public Health*, *13*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-13-807
- Shakeshaft, C. (2013). Know the Warning Signs of Educator Sexual Misconduct. Phi Delta Kappan, 5, 8–13. https://doi.org/10.1177/003172171309400503

- Shakeshaft, C., Smith, R. L., Keener, S. T., & Shakeshaft, E. (2018). A Standard of Care for the Prevention of Sexual Misconduct by School Employees. Journal of Child Sexual Abuse, 1, 105–124. https://doi.org/10.1080/10538712.2018.1477219
- Shenton, A. K. (2004). Strategies for ensuring trustworthiness in qualitative research projects. *Education for Information*, 22(2). https://doi.org/10.3233/EFI-2004-22201
- Taylor-Powell, E. and Renner, M. (2003) Analyzing Qualitative Data
- U. S. Government Accountability Office. [GAO]. (2014). Federal agencies can better support
- U.S. Department of Education, Office for Civil Rights. (April 4, 2011). "Dear colleague" letter guidance, supplementing the OCR's revised sexual harassment guidance (2001). Retrieved from: http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/letters/colleague-
- Vries, H. de, Mesters, I., Steeg, H. van de, & Honing, C. (2005). The general public's information needs and perceptions regarding hereditary cancer: an application of the Integrated Change Model. Patient Education and Counseling, 2, 154–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2004.01.002
- Walsh, K., Goebbels, A., & Nicholson, J. (2012). Teachers' detecting and reporting child abuse and neglect: Research into the determinants of complex professional behavior. *Current issues and controversies in school and community health, sport and physical education* (pp. 141–156). Nova Science Publishers.
- Washington, DC. Retrieved from http://www.gao.gov

Wurtele, S. K., Mathews, B., & Kenny, M. C. (2018). Keeping Students Out of Harm's Way: Reducing Risks of Educator Sexual Misconduct. Journal of Child Sexual Abuse, 2, 160–186. https://doi.org/10.1080/10538712.2018.1486933

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

Gender:

Employment Status:

Years of Service:

Opening Question: What grade do you teach?

- 1. What are your responsibilities as a mandatory reporter?
- 2. What is your knowledge about reporting obligations?
- 3. Define the term educator sexual misconduct.
- 4. What are the consequences of not reporting incidents of educator sexual misconduct, if any?
- 5. Do you know who to report incidents of educator sexual misconduct to?
- 6. Do you know how and when to report incidents of educator sexual misconduct?
- 7. What are some of the barriers to reporting educator sexual misconduct?
- 8. Describe how to overcome those barriers to report.
- 9. Would you be able to recognize inappropriate teacher-student behavior?
- 10. Is there anything else you like to say or add?

Appendix B: Recruitment Flyer

K-12 Educators Needed

K–12 Educators as Research Participants

Seeking individuals to participate in a <u>45 minute</u> to a <u>1 Hour</u> individual interview Where you will be asked about:

- Your current role as a mandatory reporter and reporting educator sexual misconduct.
- Your perception regarding barriers to report and overcoming those barriers.

Purpose of the study: To explore K–12 school educators' perspectives related to the underreporting of educator sexual misconduct. Specifically, this research will explore two main facets of the underreporting phenomenon: K–12 educators' perspectives of barriers to reporting and potential ways to overcome those barriers.

Eligibility: Participants must meet the following criteria to be eligible to participate:

- Currently teaching in one of the K-12 schools in North Carolina
- Minimum of two years of teaching experience

Location and Scheduling:

- A face to face interview can be scheduled at any location of your choice.
 - o Scheduling will be at your free time (mornings, evening, or weekends)
- Due to COVID-19, a videoconference can be scheduled as an alternate option. Compensation: There will be no financial compensation for participation in this study.

^{**}All interviews will be confidential, and your participation is voluntary. You may opt to withdraw from the study at any time. **